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PART ONE: Dracut Preservation Plan

. Introduction and Overview

This plan for the preservation of the Town of Dracut’s historic resources has been completed as a
response to the duties and charges to the Dracut Historical Commission which was established in
the Town Charter, adopted in 1966. It is intended to be added as an official component of the
Dracut Master Plan, which was adopted in 1999.

The Preservation Plan is based on the town-wide survey conducted in the last half of 2011 and
early 2012 in which all buildings and structures built in 1965 or before were reviewed,
documented, and evaluated. A digital database was created to classify the surveyed properties by
their status (contributing to the historic character of the community or not) and their condition
(intact, minimally altered, altered, and significantly altered), with additional documentation of
their special features—whether these be architectural or related to their setting/landscape. (See
Appendix A.) A great number of mid-20™ century post World War 11 houses are located within
clearly defined subdivisions, which are enumerated in Appendix C. In general, these
subdivisions were not deemed at this point to be contributing to the historic character of Dracut,
although many of the houses therein are 50 years of age. Since they will come to be more
broadly viewed as historic in the next decade or two (as the types of houses they contain are no
longer being constructed), they comprise potential future historic districts and should be
considered as such. The final survey report, with its accompanying database of properties,
comprises Part Il of this document.

In addition to the documentation of historic properties within the town, the Dracut Historical
Commission’s Preservation Plan also provides a Survey Plan for the intensive-level
documentation of the community’s most significant historic resources. This plan will provide
the background necessary to apply for survey grants from the Massachusetts Historical
Commission.

A Mission Statement was adopted by the Dracut Historical Commission, which highlights its
purpose and will serve as a general guide in the Commission’s ongoing preservation efforts:

The Dracut Historical Commission is the leading voice for preserving the town’s
physical heritage. It is actively engaged in town planning issues, providing important
background information and timely advice on proposed changes that may have an
impact on the community’s historic resources. It serves as an advocate for the town’s
rural heritage as well as the mills and workers’ housing that embody the stories of the
town’s residents over time. The DHC is committed to documenting, evaluating, and
monitoring all the historic resources that lie within the town’s boundaries.
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PART ONE: Dracut Preservation Plan

I1. Background

A. Dracut’s History & Development

Today’s Town of Dracut is the core of what was originally a very large region lying north of the
Merrimack River, and extending seven miles along the river’s frontage, which included a large
tract of land now lying within the state of New Hampshire. English colonists Samuel Varnum
and Richard Shatswell received a grant of 1,100 acres of land within this region from John
Evered (AKA John Web) and VVarnum is credited with being the first to settle here in 1664 (or is
sometimes stated as 1669). Shatswell did not move to the area but sold his portion of the grant
first to a Thomas Hincksman (Hinchman), who in turn transferred it to Edward Coburne
(Coburn). Varnum and Coburn were reputedly neighbors in England and came to America about
the same time. These names continue to hold great historical significance in the town—the
descendants of these two men would provide generations of leaders and be responsible for much
of Dracut’s early development.

Of course the English colonists were not the first inhabitants of the region that came to be called
Dracut. The Native Americans that occupied this territory before the European settlers arrived
were the Pawtuckets, which included at least six sub-tribes, including one also called
Pawtuckets. This latter group resided near the Merrimack River from and about which much
sustenance was derived. The falls now named for the tribe provided particularly good fishing
and their encampments farther north in the area just east of Long Pond have been documented.
The historian Gookin, described the tribe as having about three thousand men before its
population was decimated by “the great sickness” around 1612 and 1613, such that fewer than
250 men, besides women and children, were left when the earliest English settlers arrived. The
“grand capital” of the entire Pawtuckets tribe was located in a section of Dracut (and partly in
today’s Lowell) where its chief or sachem, Passaconaway, made his home and headquarters. It
was in this Native American settlement that a Reverend John Elliott centered his missionary
work with the natives beginning in 1647 at the behest of the General Court of Massachusetts Bay
Colony. The Pawtuckets were reportedly very friendly and accommodating to the newcomers
and, despite undue provocations, Passaconaway was viewed as “always faithful and loving to the
English.” Indeed, it was reported that he and his son, Wannalancit, who succeeded him as chief
sachem of the Pawtuckets, converted to the practice of “praying to God” in response to Rev.
Elliot’s proselytizing. Consequently the Pawtuckets became known as the “praying Indians.”

In 1662 the General Court of Massachusetts granted to Passaconaway and his people a large tract
of land in the region. It was into this environment that Varnum and Coburn came to settle.
However, the so-called “King Philip’s War” led by the Native American, Metacomet, which
raged from 1675 through 1678, wrecked havoc on nearly the whole of New England, including
Dracut. Metacomet had convinced a number of Native American tribes, other than the
Pawtuckets, to join together to wage war on the white settlers in order to regain their native
territory. Two of Samuel Varnum’s sons were killed in the conflict. Despite this setback, the
homesteads in Dracut were rebuilt and the numbers of settlers multiplied. To obtain clear the
title to the lands that included Dracut, which though granted by the General Court were still
considered by the Pawtuckets’ as their land, these settlers purchased “two or three hundred

thousand acres, be it more or less” from the Pawtuckets for three hundred pounds of silver in
1701.
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PART ONE: Dracut Preservation Plan

Seventeen hundred and one was the same year Dracut was formally incorporated and separated
from the Town of Chelmsford at which time it contained 22,334 acres. In this early period
Dracut was still quite a wilderness punctuated by rude dwellings and subsistence farms; access to
them was via rivers and streams, “Indian paths” through the woods and along the Merrimack
River, and rough bridle paths. The 1744 map by surveyor James Ingalls illustrates only 4 routes
through the town — one along the north bank of the Merrimack River, a second east-west route in
the southern portion of the town and two north-south routes that appear to correspond to
Mammoth and Hildreth roads.

Votes taken at Town Meetings in 1711 to establish a meeting house for worship provide
evidence of the growing settlement. However, it would take the town until 1714 to appoint
Thomas Coburn, Ezra Coburn, Joseph Coburn, Thomas Varnum, and John VVarnum as trustees to
oversee the construction of a “30 feet longe and 25 feet wide” meeting house and until 1716 to
be completed enough to be dedicated.

Although the history of Dracut is dominated by white settlers, a number of African Americans
are documented among those established here. The Reverend Thomas Parker, the first minister
called to serve in Dracut, employed a Black servant or slave by the name of Caesar. In March of
1721 a lot from the reserved land was conveyed to John Anthony a “Negro” of Dracut. He and
his wife Sary’s descendents would continue to farm that tract and be counted among the
approximately 200 residents of the town at that time. Much later, a Frenchman by the name of
Col. Louis Ansart, who had served as inspector-general of foundries, had or owned two “negro
servants;” one named Sip. Others included the runaway slave, Phillis (sheltered by a Dracut
gentleman from her master), “Old Cuff,” and Brazilla Lew who, together with his wife Dinah,
had twelve children.

In 1741 the boundary line between what was then two provinces—Massachusetts and New
Hampshire—was changed by an act of King George Il of Great Britain. This reduced the area of
Dracut to 16,000 acres. The incorporation of Dunstable cut away more land from Dracut in 1755
leaving it with half its original acreage. Still the agriculturally-based economy continued to
flourish, the construction of schoolhouses were authorized (1752), and the seeds of an industrial
economy were planted with mills for fulling and dressing cloth and paper in operation. By 1753
Joseph Hamblett of Pelham, New Hampshire, had become the owner of a farm along Beaver
Brook where he operated grist and saw mills until 1773. Hamblett’s son John continued the
business until he conveyed the property in 1789 in exchange for Isaac Parker’s farm on
Mammoth Road. Later Charles Wilson and his brothers became the owners of the property and
it became known for a time as Wilson’s Mills.

At the beginning of the “War of the Rebellion,” Dracut’s 1776 population numbered 1,173,
swelled by refugees from the siege on Boston, as well as depleted by the 135 men going off to
fight for the colony’s freedom. Dracut settlers—Joseph Varnum, Isaac Fox, William Hildreth,
Captain Stephen Russell, Captain Peter Coburn, Eliseus Barron, Reuben Sawyer, and Lieutenant
Ephraim Coburn would all serve on committees dealing with regulation of the articles of trade
under the wartime economy. In 1780 Joseph B. Varnum served as a member of the state’s
Constitutional Convention. With the conclusion of the Revolutionary War, development of the
Commonwealth proceeded unchecked, and with it the town of Dracut.
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PART ONE: Dracut Preservation Plan

The major transportation improvements of the 18" century were the Mammoth Road, laid out
through Dracut in March of 1792, and the concurrent construction of the Middlesex Merrimack
(Pawtucket) Bridge by Parker Varnum and others, which opened on November 5, 1792. Thus
was a portion of the early ferry service supplanted, which had been the sole means of delivering
the goods and produce of Dracut to the Boston market and other seaports until that point. This
bridge has been replaced several times since its initial erection. The growth of Dracut throughout
the 18" century was manifested by the construction, in 1794, of a large “Centre Church” (the Old
Yellow Meeting House) at a location then at the center of the town, which today remains the
town’s major landmark.

In 1800 the population of Dracut was 1,679. As the settlers cleared more land and were able to
produce excess goods for sale, the transportation routes were further improved and formalized.
The opening of the Middlesex Canal in 1809 and the Middlesex Turnpike in 1811 spurred the
growth of Dracut mills as these routes provided improved connections with Boston as did a stage
coach line that was established between East Chelmsford and Boston in 1822. Farmers also felt
the benefit with increased shipments of their produce. Given the increased traffic it spurred, a
group of local leaders formed The Central Bridge Corporation. That entity was responsible for
constructing in 1826 the bridge that would take the place of Bradley’s Ferry. An 1831 map
illustrates the network of roads that crisscrossed the town connecting meeting houses, mills and
factories, schools, dwellings, and far flung farms.

The Industrial Revolution began in Dracut around 1840 with the establishment of the Baldwin
Woolen Co. at the lower falls of Beaver Brook (100 Pleasant Street) which had been the site of
fulling and grist mills dating to the late 1700s. The company was located in North Chelmsford,
but by 1858 it was under new ownership and became the Merrimack Woolen Co. Powered by
both water and steam, that company flourished and by 1862 the earlier wood-frame mill
buildings were replaced with new brick buildings. Destroyed by fire in 1864, the buildings were
quickly replaced in the next couple of years and the Merrimack Woolen Co. maintained an active
independent business for nearly five decades, which spurred a great amount of new development
in the community, particularly around the mill complex along and adjacent to Pleasant Street. In
the early 20" century the company was bought by the M. T. Stevens Company at which time
new buildings were added to the complex. Nearby was the location where sawed lumber and
ship’s knees were stockpiled awaiting highwater that would allow them to be floated down river
to Newburyport. The appearance of the place was similar to a Navy Yard, the name by which
the neighborhood would come to be known to this day.

Farther north along Beaver Brook the ownership of the Wilson Mills (located at Lakeview Avenue)
was transferred a couple of times. Eventually Boston capitalist, John H. Pearson, assumed ownership
and made improvements to increase its water power. He also engaged Scottish immigrants John and
Peter Lawson, whose family had been involved in producing cotton thread in Paisley, Scotland.
As a result a cotton thread mill was established in the “Frogtown” area of Dracut by 1844. The
Lawsons in turn brought Elizabeth and Martha Little to Dracut from Paisley to take part in this
endeavor. Martha Little Davidson is credited with winding the first spool of thread in the United
States at this location and the Dracut mill credited with establishing the thread industry in this
country. Despite this seminal undertaking the mill was sold in 1863 to a New York investor and
the machinery sat idle for several years.
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PART ONE: Dracut Preservation Plan

The 1860 Federal Census documents that Dracut was still primarily agricultural, despite the early
beginnings of industrial development. Further, although immigrants had begun to settle the area, the
native born New Englanders dominated the population. And while immigrants from England and
Scotland were primarily employed in the mills (as carders, spinners, weavers, and cordwainers) most
of the Irish and Canadian newcomers were working as domestic servants and farm laborers.
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PART ONE: Dracut Preservation Plan

In 1879 Michael Collins purchased the mill and water rights on the northerly stretch of Beaver Brook
and converted it to a woolen mill, employing 125 people in 1880. Collins was born in Dudley,
Massachusetts, on June 6, 1839. His grandfather had been a manufacturer of woolens outside of
Dublin, Ireland, had emigrated from that country and settled in Worcester in 1830. Collins’s father
was a wool-dyer and so the business was in his blood. During his tenure, the mill buildings, canals
and related structures were replaced, updated and expanded with significant additions and within
fifteen years the employees numbered 260. These employees settled in the vicinity of the woolen
mill in tenements and dwellings financed by Collins. This cluster of homes, became known as “The
Village,” and evolved into the core of the area now known as Collinsville where, by 1895, Collins
also served as Postmaster. In 1899 Collins sold the mill and all its associated property to the
American Woolen Company and its name was changed to “Beaver Brook Mills.” Collins would
remain Postmaster through 1905.

Concurrent with the expansion of Dracut’s industrial base, Lowell was also booming and it
would eventually overtake Dracut as the economic center of the region. This transformation was
helped by a series of annexations by Lowell. In 1850 the population of Dracut had reached
3,503, but after the Centralville section of Dracut was annexed by its neighbor across the river in
1851, the population of Dracut in 1860 had dropped to 1,881. The state census of 1865 revealed
that the town contained 193 farms and 250 persons were employed in the manufacture of
cassimere, a plain or twilled wool cloth used for suits. Another 12 persons were employed in the
manufacture of paper. By 1870 the population of the reduced town had rebounded somewhat to
2,078, but once again Lowell sought annexation with the resulting loss of Pawtucketville in
1874. Thus, in 1875, the population of Dracut had again been reduced (to 1,116).

The 1889 map of Dracut at last depicted the final boundaries of the town with its rural eastern
section and the more concentrated development in Collinsville, Navy Yard and Dracut Center.
With their mills in full operation, Collinsville and Navy Yard became magnets for the waves of
immigrants that began to flood into the United States. The 1880 Federal Census records one
Dracut household headed by John Tighe Jr., a first generation Irish-American, as having
seventeen boarders working in the “Woolen Mills” of which six were Irish immigrants, seven
were first-generation Irish Americans, and three were natives of New Hampshire. In addition
Tighe’s tenement house had two Irish servants (both women). Next door Lawrence Tighe, a 70-
year-old laborer, and his wife Julia, both Irish immigrants (and most likely John Tighe’s parents
as he was double-counted as being in both households) also kept boarders who worked in the
woolen mills, all of whom were either Irish immigrants or first generation Irish-American. The
next listing after these two was of a household headed by Canadian immigrants that included
three other Canadian immigrants who worked in the woolen mills, along with their three children
born in Massachusetts. This was a typical pattern throughout the region—earlier immigrants
sustaining themselves by running boarding houses for more recent newcomers. Yet there were
also a number of Dracut farmers whose sons and daughters worked in the mills rather than
remain working on the family farm. Maine natives Charles E. and Feyi Chandler would take in
boarders that, in 1880, included seven Irish-born, six Scottish-born, two English immigrants, as
well as a Canadian and a first generation Irish-American from Vermont. A close review of the
1880 Federal Census of Dracut confirms that the great majority of immigrants were of Irish birth
and that the native population was overwhelmingly from New England (Maine, New Hampshire,
Vermont and Connecticut were all represented; none from Rhode Island), Canada, or of northern
European extraction. There were a few Germans (Saxony and Wurtenburg were the places
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specified for some), one man from Australia, another from Ohio, and a couple of people from
New York. There were no Blacks enumerated that year.
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1889 Map of Dracut. (Map courtesy of Dracut Historical Society.)

The 1880 Census also reveals that most of Dracut’s farmers were still Massachusetts natives and
several ran quite large farming operations. One example is Milton Fox, the eldest son of early
settlers Captain Nathanial Fox and Fanny Richardson. He evidently inherited a large tract of
land as his farm was singled out among 193 noted in the 1874 Gazette for the State of
Massachusetts as “among the best for hay in Middlesex County.” In addition to Fox’s three
daughters and his son Fred, the farm overseer, 41 farm laborers were boarded on the farmstead
plus an Irish servant woman. Of these 41 laborers, 14 were from Canada (including one from
Nova Scotia), 14 were Irish, nine were native to Massachusetts, three were from Maine and one
was a New York native.
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While the Irish dominated the mill communities in the 1880s, a growing number of Canadians,
mostly French Canadians, increased their migration southward. One hundred fifty thousand
French Canadians crossed the border into the U.S. 1880-1890. Their migration was distinct
from the European influx as the U.S.-Canadian border was porous, with reverse migration a
more readily available option. Also, rather than trying to escape oppression, Canadians were
being pulled to manufacturing centers in the Northeast such as Lowell by economic opportunity.
Lowell’s textile factories, for example, “recruited first from surrounding rural communities, then
from Ireland and increasingly from Canada in the late 19" century.” The 1900 Federal Census of
Dracut listed far more Canadians—both French and English—than twenty years earlier. In
addition a number of Germans, Swedes and a few Italians had moved to the town, along with one
Russian family, one from Norway, and another from Holland. Not one Greek family was
enumerated that year; however that would change by 1910; the census that year demonstrates
that Dracut was becoming far more ethnically diverse.

An exodus of Greeks to America was spurred when Greece lost a war with Turkey in 1897 and
the European powers that had supported them demanded economic reparations. This
exacerbated the plight of an already impoverished people creating a “push factor, as well as the
pull of greater economic opportunity available in the U.S. The majority of Greeks arrived
between 1900 and 1920 and Lowell was one of the destination cities. Although only a handful of
Greek families had settled in Dracut by 1910, they would provide the foothold for a Greek
community that by year 2000 would place the town as 19" in the nation for percentage of
residents with Greek heritage. Two Greek families lived on Hampson Street that year (Pelix
Largarnus, a gardener, was the head of a family of six that lived at 32 Hampson and Isaac and
Olympia Simmons lived at 75 Hampson with their four children; he was a produce peddler).
Costas Vlahakis, a 24-year-old Greek established himself as a farmer at 222 Phineas Street in
1910. But in 1910 Dracut residents included an even greater number of immigrants from other
countries—Russia, Poland, Austria (German and Polish), Lithuania, Turkey (Armenians and
Syrians), Portugal, Italy, Finland, France and Wales. Nearly all of these immigrants worked in
the mills and were living in tenement housing on Mill Street and Primrose Hill Road. Also
notable among Dracut residents were a number who evidently had headed west, to places like
Pennsylvania, Ohio, Indiana, Wisconsin, Michigan, Utah and California, and decided to return
east.

Earlier transportation changes laid the groundwork to make Dracut increasingly accessible; the
1889 map shows the route of the Lowell & Dracut Electric Street Railway that ran northwest
from the Centralville section of Lowell up along Lakeview Avenue then curved around to angle
southwesterly below Long Pond to the shore of Lake Mascuppic. The area around Long Pond
was virtually devoid of development at that point, but all that was about to change. In the late
1800s the Lowell & Suburban Street Railway companies purchased land from Josephine Steward
and Morris Quinn and a summer resort community that would lure Lowell’s factory workers had
its beginnings.

Lakeview Park was established in 1889 with the construction of a dance hall and dining hall, and
in 1890 expanded to include a penny arcade and bowling alley. Ten years later the park featured
a theater, the “flying horses” and a roller coaster. Thus, Dracut began the twentieth century as a
resort town with summer cottages along Lake Mascuppic and events centered in Lakeview Park.
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Still, farms continued to dominate the north central and eastern portions of the community and
the rural roots of the community were confirmed by the founding of the Dracut Grange #216 on
March 8, 1897.

In the southeastern section of Dracut, which had retained its frontage on the Merrimack River,
was a large estate called “Belle Grove” and owned by Mrs. Alice “Belle” (Varnum) Isherwood.
It occupied the tract of land that had been a part of the Varnum land holdings north of the
Varnum ferry crossing. But in the first decades of the 20™ century, this area became the site of
picnic and camp grounds used by Lowell workers for recreation on their days off. By the 1920s
the Belle Grove Amusement Park, which was named for the nearby Belle Grove Estate, occupied
the area between Mt. Pleasant and Jackson streets, an area once called Blueberry Hill. Methuen
Street ran through the district as did a trolley and taxi service (using the same tracks!). As
activities in the amusement park waned, the Kenwood Improvement Association continued to
sponsor events and recreational activities.

The first half of the 20" century saw the beginnings of major development shifts in the town.
With the growth of Lowell as the major employment center, Dracut’s rural properties and open
spaces became attractive for suburban development. Still, concentrations of populations were
centered on the mills in Navy Yard and Collinsville with the ethnic heritage of residents
continuing to diversify. Households headed by Greek immigrants surged from three in 1910 to
53 in 1920 and were all located in the western half of the town (not one was located east of
Bridge Street!). But it wasn’t just the number of Greek immigrants living in Dracut that
increased in the first decades of the 20™ century—Armenian, Lithuanian, Russian, German,
Austrian, Polish, Portuguese, Italian, and other immigrant groups all had a noticeably greater
numbers of households. The 1920 Federal Census also revealed the presence of three Black men
who lived on Orchard Street and were workers at a “waste mill” (presumably dealing with waste
from the Beaver Brook Mills—no other persons were involved in that work). They had migrated
to Dracut from Tennessee, Virginia and Missouri.

When the street car system ended in the 1920s automobile-oriented development began to
dominate. While development slowed during the Depression and residential construction nearly
stopped during World War |1, suburban single-family residential development came back with a
vengeance in the post-World War 1l era, with the return of military personnel and subsequent
baby boom. This in turn resulted in demand for more schools and commercial services.

By the 1960s, major highways such as 1-93, 1-495, and Route 3, had been constructed through
neighboring towns, providing access to employment centers outside of Dracut. This, along with
the town’s location north of the river and south of the New Hampshire border, reinforced the
development of Dracut as a bedroom community for employment centers located farther afield,
such as Nashua, the Route 128 and Route 495 technology corridors, as well as Boston. Today,
Dracut is predominantly residential, with the greatest population increases having occurred
during the 1960s, when the population grew 57.8 percent, and the 1970s, when it grew 33.2
percent. There are now limited industrial, commercial, and agricultural land uses located
throughout town. Although Dracut is located relatively close to major interstate and state
highways, it lacks interchanges with these limited access arterials which has limited non-
residential development. The community has attracted many residents to relocate from Lowell,
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similar to the way Methuen has been a destination for former Lawrence residents. This migration
has fostered strong neighborhood identification within the current population.

The street names of today’s Dracut contains many clues to it long history and the people who
settled the area and fostered its growth—\Varnum Avenue, Hildreth Street, Colburn Road, Aiken
Street, Totman Road, Parker Road, Richardson Road, Wheeler Road, Thissel Street. Along these
byways is located the physical evidence of three centuries of development—Dboth urban and
rural—much of which is deserving of preservation and protection.

(Please see Bibliography, Appendix G, for sources of the above historical background.)

B. Planning in Dracut

Beginnings

The first zoning for properties in the Town of Dracut was officially instituted in 1946. In 1945
Arthur C. Comey, FASLA, AICE, ASCE, AIP, a former Associate Professor in the Department
of City Planning at Harvard University, was the consultant hired to develop a zoning document
in consultation with the Zoning Committee of the Planning Board. A Dracut Zoning Map dated
that year was drafted. Subsequently several neighborhood meetings (in Navy Yard, Collinsville,
and Dracut Center) were held and residents interviewed, which ensured good input into the plan
by town residents. A zoning map and corresponding zoning by-law was prepared by the
consultant, comprising Article 17 of the Town Meeting Warrant, and was passed at the February
9, 1946, Town Meeting. The Zoning by-law established four land use categories: Single Family
Residence and Farming; General Residence; Business; and Industrial. Non-conforming uses
were allowed to continue as of right. Height limits, area requirements and building setbacks
were first established by this document with enforcement by an Inspector of Buildings (the by-
law allowed the Town Selectmen to fulfill this role). The Planning Board, at that point advisory,
was comprised of the following persons: William H. Bromley, Chairman; Leslie A. Runton,
Sec.; Mayo Carrington, Ira Dwinnel; John Eadie; Walter F. Garland; Leon j. Litchfield; Gustave
A. Roth, Jr.; and Percy W. Senter.

Two years later, in 1947, Arthur Comey was again engaged to prepare the Town’s first Master
Plan for the Dracut Planning Board. State statute required that a Master Plan be prepared and
Comey’s reflected the land use patterns embodied in the town’s zoning map. The federal Section
701 Program under the Housing Act of 1954 provided funding for the town to review its
development and prepare a new Dracut Town Plan Report in 1958. That plan, authored by John
T. Blackwell for the Dracut Planning Board (and the Massachusetts Department of Commerce)
emphasized the town’s circulation problems and recommended development of two limited
access parkways; one running north from Pawtucket Ave. in Lowell along the shore of Beaver
Brook and a second east-west route from Collinsville to Kenwood. These were never developed.
The plan also proposed a new town center and “open space preserves to separate and define
various town sections.” In addition, the plan suggested “prudent perpetuation of many of
Dracut’s present visual assets, stream banks, ponds and green hill tops, the play of field and
wood against the suburban residential pattern.”
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Mid-20" Century Planning

In 1963 the Northern Middlesex Council of Governments (NMCOG) one of thirteen Regional
Planning Agencies (RPA) in the Commonwealth was formed in response to the enabling
legislation of Chapter 40B of the Massachusetts General Laws. NMCOG serves a region
composed of the northern section of Middlesex County, Massachusetts. As a public agency, it is
governed by a policy board made up of local elected officials from the City of Lowell and eight
surrounding towns including Billerica, Chelmsford, Dracut, Dunstable, Pepperell, Tewksbury,
Tyngsborough, and Westford. Over the years it has developed various regional plans as well as
plans for specific areas within its jurisdiction (more below).

An update of the 1958 plan—the Dracut Master Plan Report—was authored in 1965-1966 by
Whitman & Howard, Inc. Engineers. It was more comprehensive in scope than the first Master
Plan, including sections on Population; Community Facilities; Schools; Public Utilities;
Transportation & Circulation; and Neighborhood Analysis (of Kenwood, Collinsville, Dracut
Center, and Navy Yard). Italso included a Capital Improvement Program in its appendix. This
plan made several major recommendations and strongly emphasized comprehensive regional
planning in the areas of traffic, water distribution and sewage disposal, which it advocated was
best handled at a regional level, no doubt in recognition of the resources available through
NMCOG. The report cited the need for a new Town Hall—a recommendation that may be
attained after a five-plus-decade hiatus, if current plans are fulfilled. Federal Urban Renewal and
Open Space programs were also highlighted in this report:

The use of federal funds to improve areas in Dracut taking advantage of capital
outlays that the town will have to make such as new schools, water storage
facilities and new highway construction where applicable.

In this [Open Space] program the federal government will pay up to half the cost
of acquiring land for parks, recreational, conservation, historic or scenic
purposes. Half the remaining costs may be provided in some cases by the State
of Massachusetts.

Other grant programs were put forth as those Dracut could make use of—including the
demolition of substandard housing and elimination of “blight.” (Like municipalities across the
country, Dracut’s use of this program resulted in the loss of historic buildings, fabric and
character with newer buildings generally being aesthetically inharmonious with its historic
resources.) Urban Beautification, a program that offered to fund one-half the cost of landscaping
open spaces, creating malls, developing parks, certain forms of street lighting and tree planting,
was cited. There is no evidence that this funding opportunity was utilized by the Town.

The Annual Town Report of 1967 indicates that an update of the Dracut Master Plan was
completed by Stephen Waxer of Community Planning Services—that same year a large tract of
land was rezoned for industrial use.

The Dracut Historical Commission was established by 1966 and for a number of years was not

mentioned in the annual town reports (rather, the Dracut Historical Society, a private
organization, was regularly mentioned).

Prepared by Larson Fisher Associates, Inc. Page 1-11 of 29



PART ONE: Dracut Preservation Plan

Late-20™ Century Planning

By 1979 the town had developed the Dracut Open Space and Recreation Plan, which was
subsequently reviewed and approved at the state level. A Conservation Commission was
charged with protecting sensitive environmental resources such as wetlands, which in turn has
provided a measure of protection for open space in the town.

A Reconnaissance Survey Town Report for Dracut was produced in 1980 as a part of the
Massachusetts Historical Commission’s Statewide Reconnaissance Survey. It was quite general
in its findings, though it appears to have spurred the inventory of at least some of historic
resources in the town. Fifty-seven MHC inventory forms were completed around this time. The
1980 Annual Town Report included a list of “Some Historic Sites of Dracut” and an associated
map. Although thirty sites were listed, six of these are within the City of Lowell.

The plan, “Guiding Dracut’s Future — A Land Use Plan,” was prepared for the Town of Dracut in
1985 by NMCOG /the Northern Middlesex Area Commission. NMCOG also prepared the Open
Space and Recreation Plan, dated July 1996.

The Master Plan for Dracut was completed in January 1999. It was prepared by John Brown
Associates, Inc. in association with BluestonePlanning Group, Daylor consulting Group and
David J. Friend, ITE; Kevin J. McCarthy, served as chairman of a 15-member Master Plan
Committee that oversaw the work. In addition to the typical topics of increasing and diversifying
the tax base, improving the town’s infrastructure, protecting water resources, etc., the plan
addressed a number of key areas of concern pertinent to this Preservation Plan:
= Methods for the preservation and acquisition of remaining open space and agricultural
lands;
= Neighborhood Preservation
= Promotion of adaptive reuse of old mill buildings and other underutilized structures for
higher value activities and improved appearance
= Preservation of cultural and historic resources.

This plan recognized the historic neighborhoods—Collinsville, Navy Yard, Dracut Center, and
Kenwood—categorizing them as primarily residential. The 1999 Master Plan noted that while
East Dracut was sparsely developed as a residential neighborhood, given its proximity to Route
113 and 1-93, it contained more industrial development than other areas of the town. The plan
identified the preservation of Harmony Hall as a major achievement for the community, yet went
on to state:

However, in spite of significant efforts such as this one, most historic properties
are not now either well known, identified, or protected from eventual
redevelopment or demolition. Therefore, in order to maintain its historic
character for future generations, Dracut may wish to survey its resources,
increase public awareness of their existence, establish priorities for preservation,
and establish historic districts or provide historic designation to individual
properties, such as the industrial mill buildings in Collinsville and the Navy
Yard, with the consent of property owners to provide protections.
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A three-page Section 5.0 of the plan put forth three goals:

=

Identify all of Dracut’s historic and cultural resources.

2. Protect Dracut’s historic and cultural resources, which are now largely
unprotected. Consider the establishment of Local Historic Districts, with
the consent of affected property owners, to protect historic properties and
areas.

3. Increase public awareness of Dracut’s historic and cultural resources,

which now largely go unnoticed, by identifying those resources to the

public.

Section 5.3 of the plan listed five recommendations that would further these goals which
included supporting the Historic (sic) Commission in its efforts; surveying and identifying
Dracut’s historic resources with primary focus on Dracut Center and the industrial mill buildings
in Collinsville and Navy Yard; nominating identified historic sites to the National Register of
Historic Places; signing historic resources and preparing educational literature about Dracut’s
historic and cultural resources to expand the public’s awareness of them.

21 Century Efforts

On February 26, 2001, Dracut’s Community Preservation Fund was created at a Special Town
Meeting which was enabled by Massachusetts” Community Preservation Act, which was signed
into law on September 14, 2000. This innovative legislation provided for a tax on property
transfers that would create a dedicated fund for affordable housing, open space protection,
outdoor recreation, and historic preservation projects. The act also created a significant state
matching fund to serve as an incentive for communities to pass the CPA. The Town
subsequently established a Community Preservation Board to oversee the expenditure of CPA
funds. This group acted quickly to use the funds to address pressing preservation and
development issues: in August 2002 the Dracut Open Space and Recreation Plan — Update was
completed and later that year a Community Preservation Committee Implementation Plan was
published.

On August 2, 2006, Massachusetts General Law (M.G.L.) Chapter 43D, The Expedited Local
Permitting Program, was signed into law and offered tools to those communities which
participate in the program (including funding) to target specific areas within the municipality for
economic development. The law was created to provide a transparent and efficient process for
municipal permitting, while guaranteeing that local permitting decisions on priority development
sites are made within 180 days. The Expedited Permitting Program provides cities and towns
with the ability to promote commercial development on pre-approved parcels by offering
expedited permitting for those parcels. The development parcels are primarily commercially or
industrially zoned, however, mixed-use properties also qualify for priority designation, providing
they conform to the statutory requirements for a Priority Development Site (which the Town has
yet to establish).

The Dracut Open Space and Recreation Plan — 2009 Update, was issued by the Community

Preservation Committee. It was this plan that identified the need for a Preservation Plan and
community-wide survey of historic resources for the town.
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In 2011 NMCOG began a study of Dracut’s Town Center. Study objectives included the
following:
« Encourage an appropriate mix of business, residential, cultural, and civic uses;
o Encourage design that: promotes the historic nature and value of the Center,
creates a sense of place, and fosters a distinct identity;
o Encourage the reuse of existing underutilized and vacant properties;
o Promote compact development that is pedestrian-oriented, through roadway
design, shared parking and pedestrian amenities; and
« Minimize the impacts on town services and maximize the efficient use of public
infrastructure

Visioning sessions were held in May and December of 2011 at Harmony Hall; the second one
presented a zoning overlay district and related proposed standards. However, this planning effort
was put on hold with the expectation of it coming to fruition at the Town Meeting in the fall of
2013.

In late 2011 an evaluation of housing development in the town was reported. It found that an
additional 503 dwelling units, both single family detached and multi-unit apartments
(condominiums) were in some phase of construction with an additional 429 dwelling units
approved or under review at that time.* Residential growth has the most significant impact for a
“bedroom community” like Dracut. In and of itself, it has the potential to change the physical
character of the community via the filling in open spaces, converting rural working landscapes
and farms into suburban lots. In addition, it drives commercial growth, increases traffic and
demand on infrastructure and schools (not to mention public services and attendant costs). Such
growth can also be a threat to preservation of the town’s historic resources and physical heritage.

In the spring of 2012, NMCOG began an update of the Greater Lowell Comprehensive
Economic Development Strategy, 2009-2013, with input from the Town of Dracut. This
document provides a blueprint for the next five years to address the economic problems while
balancing the proposed initiatives with maintaining quality of life for residents, visitors and
businesses.

C. The Regulatory Environment

Interviews with town staff, residents and Historical Commission members indicate that the
current political environment is not conducive to any additional regulation; particularly any by-
laws that are perceived to limit “private property rights,” a catch-phrase that has gained wide-
spread acceptance in the past two decades. Specifically, delays in permitting of demolitions,
renovations and additions, or new construction, so as to allow these actions to be reviewed for
their impacts on historic resources, was seen as politically untenable (unable to be passed at town
meeting, whether or not the Board of Selectmen might support them). Historical Commission
members cited the Town of Reading’s amendment to its Demolition By-law to reduce the
waiting period from one year to six months (passed in August 2011) as an example of local
attitudes that favor development over preservation.

! Town of Dracut website: Dracut Residential Development Status Report 11/17/2011.
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Although official regulation of historic properties has not been established, an informal review of
demolitions by the Historical Commission has been in operation for a number of years whereby
the Building Official notifies the chair of the DHC and provides several days for comment and
response on the demolition applications. To date, this process has involved mostly secondary
buildings or those that were in such states of disrepair as to be beyond any practical preservation
efforts. However, should a significant historic building be threatened with demolition, there is
no legal regulatory mechanism by which it could be prevented unless it is part of a larger
development plan needing Planning Board approval and a satisfactory resolution negotiated.

In 2010 NMCOG produced a study, “Town of Dracut Land Use and Regulatory Permitting
Practices—Assessment and Recommendations for Streamlining” that tailored the best practices
and findings in a report by the Massachusetts Association of Regional Planning Agency to
Dracut’s situation.” The report was focused on making the permitting process more user friendly
without undermining positive public policies and regulations. Among the recommendations were
development of a Permitting Guide, an updated Permit Checklist, and regular maintenance of the
town’s website to provide up-to-date information to residents and property owners in the
community. A streamlined Permitting Guide for Dracut was subsequently developed with the
assistance of NMCOG and the document is available on the Town’s website.

2 A Best Practices Model for Streamlined Local Permitting (November 30, 2007).
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I11. Evaluation of Dracut’s Historic Resources

A. Analysis of Survey Findings

The historic resources of the town of Dracut are quite extensive and fall into several broad
periods of significance: Contact & Early Settlement, Colonial, Federal, Rural Development—
Early Industrial, Late Industrial-Early Suburbanization; Early Modern, and Post World War 11
Suburbanization. These are explored and illustrated in Part Two of this document. The historic
properties database, a digital spreadsheet (Appendix A) provides the opportunity to analyze how
these properties break down into various categories and helps determine which properties are
rarest, most intact, or represent a particular architectural style. The following tables help
understand both the scope and specifics of Dracut’s historic resources.

Table 1. PRINCIPAL BUILDINGS (built 1965 or before)
Dates of Construction Number of Resources

up to 1770 9

1770-1839 23

1840-1869 31

1870-1899 354

1900-1944 1175
1945-present 524*

*This number does not include residences within mid-20™
century subdivisions. It includes a several late 20" & early
21 century memorials & monuments.

Table 2. ARCHITECTURAL STYLES OF PRINCIPAL BUILDINGS*

Classical Revival 79 Italianate 7
Colonial 4 Modern 77
Colonial Revival** 1175 Queen Anne 20
Craftsman 154 Ranch 3
Dutch Colonial 17 Second Empire 4
Revival

Federal 22 Tudor Revival 8
Gothic Revival 92 Transitional (mix of 12

styles)/Eclectic

Greek Revival 9 Utilitarian 6

* Objects and Structures do not have architectural styles assigned & 288 buildings could not be
categorized by style & were listed as “undetermined.”
**The Colonial Revival Style was applied to a variety of building forms: Cape Cod (200),
American 4-Square (65), Ranch/Split Level (181), Bungalows (12); etc.

In addition to the principal buildings that were documented, at least 759 of the individual tax

parcels documented had outbuildings consisting of barns, garages, sheds and a variety of special
use buildings. Eighty-five percent of these contribute to the historic character of the town.
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The integrity of buildings is an important factor to consider when determining whether a
property is significant enough to preserve. The following table indicates that a good number of
historic resources are intact (in virtually original condition) or only minimally altered (e.g. with
small additions, windows replaced, simply resided, and other changes that have not obscured the
original form and/or design of the building). “Altered” indicates large additions or changes that
have disturbed the integrity of the original design (e.g. front porches enclosed) while
“Significantly Altered” indicates the original form and design is indistinguishable. More
extensively altered buildings should be evaluated as to their historical significance and
immediate physical context in order to determine whether they should be a priority for
preservation.

Table 3. INTEGRITY OF PRINCIPAL BUILDINGS

Intact 215 1311
Minimally Altered 1096
Altered 325 713
Significantly Altered 389

Historic resources are found in all sections of Dracut, though the predominance of types of
resources varies by neighborhood. The following table provides a breakdown of historic
resources by location.

Table 4. HISTORIC RESOURCES BY NEIGHBORHOOD

Collinsville 498
Navy Yard 632
Dracut Center 413
East Dracut 164
Kenwood 255

Another 71 historic properties were uncategorized by neighborhood, which generally means they
were located in the northeast section of the town.

B. Public Input

On February 13, 2012, a public input session was held in conjunction with a regular meeting of
the Dracut Historical Society. The preliminary goals identified for the Preservation Plan were
displayed and feedback on how to achieve them was requested. In addition, the attendees were
asked to list those historic resources they felt were threatened by redevelopment and/or
demolition and neglect. Special attention to those identified properties is warranted by the DHC
as the primary town board responsible for identifying and advocating for the physical heritage of
the community. Thus the DHC will need to work with both public and private parties to find
means by which threatened properties can be preserved using the resources and methods outlined
in the Action Plan. In some cases these properties would be candidates for agricultural
preservation agreements.
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C. Recommendations for Further Investigation (Survey Plan)

1. Potential Historic Districts

a. Collinsville Mill Area (Beaver Brook Mills)
Industrial buildings, mill-owned workers’ housing, and other properties documented
as directly associated with history of mill business.

b. Dracut Center
A traditional center of the town and developed primarily during period 1880-1930;
includes a number of individually significant historic properties including the Old
Yellow Meetinghouse, Grange Hall, Parker Memorial Library, Town Hall, and
Dracut Center School.

c. Mammoth—Nashua Rural District
A cluster of farms that have survived with intact connected farm buildings.

d. Sladen — Pleasant — Swain Street Area
A residential district that has strong historical connections to the Merrimack Mills
with a cluster of relatively intact housing dating to the late 19™ century.

e. Broadway & Parker Rural Potential Historic District
A cluster of farms that have survived with intact connected farm buildings.

f. Marsh Hill & Methuen Rd Rural District
A cluster of farms that have survived with intact connected farm buildings.

g. Parker Avenue/School Street Area
A second residential district that has strong historical connections to the Merrimack
Mills with a cluster of relatively intact housing dating to the late 19" century.

NOTE: LFA Associate Philip Pendleton has prepared MHC Area Inventory Forms for areas
a through d, above, which provides a basis for nominating these areas to the National
Register of Historic Places.

2. Individual Properties
Completing and updating intensive-level surveys of the properties identified to allow for
significance to be evaluated by MHC and thereby gain the support for listing on the State
and National Registers of Historic Places is a top recommendation.

a. Houses — final recommendation list approx. 60 properties drawn from entire
period (1728-1964)
b. Other properties
= Old Meetinghouse, 10 Arlington St. (1794/1897)
= Merrimac Woolen Mills complex, 76 Pleasant St. (1850)
= Dracut Center School, 11 Spring Park Ave. (1898)
= Kenwood School, 920 Methuen St. (1900)
= St. Mary’s of the Assumption Church, 1868 Lakeview Ave. (1901)

3. Historic Farmsteads
Develop a historic context for Dracut’s agricultural history and intensive survey to
evaluate significance of selected farm properties; in some cases update surveys of earlier
MHC inventory forms.
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Dracut retains an impressive assemblage of historic farmstead complexes that contain
connected farm buildings and other potentially important surviving barn examples, as
well as several of Dracut’s more outstanding historic dwellings. Agriculture forms an
element of salient importance in the town’s social, economic, cultural, and architectural
history; furthermore, the preservation of historic farmstead architectural resources would
potentially reinforce and complement the town’s efforts in farmland preservation. In
addition to the intensive field survey effort to describe the properties, and site-specific
documentary research to delineate the history of the individual properties, it is necessary
to compile an historic and architectural context for the evolution of agriculture in Dracut
from the eighteenth century up to the post-World War 11 era. The completed context
would include standards for the evaluation of historic significance for farmstead
resources. Farmstead properties recommended for study in the survey include:

CONNECTED FARM BUILDINGS

= Phineas Trull Farmstead (Ogonowski Farmstead), 713 Broadway (1780)
Brox Farm, 1276 Broadway (1800)

Peter Trull Farmstead, 540 Wheeler Road (1820)

I. Coburn Farmstead, 194 Crosby Road (1840)

William Osgood Farmstead, 746 Mammoth Road (1850)

Aaron Osgood Farmstead, 737 Mammoth Road (1860)

Richardson Farmstead, 600 Marsh Hill Road (1870)

T. Kinan Farmstead, 122 Old Parker Road (1870)

Peabody Farmstead, 312 Marsh Hill Road (1880)

FREESTANDING HOUSES & BARNS

= Varnum Farmstead (Beaver Brook Farm), 761 Mammoth Road (1735)
Russell Farmstead, 430 Marsh Hill Road (1773)

Richardson Farmstead, 316 Richardson Road (1790)

Fox Farmstead, 238 Fox Avenue (1860)

Fox Farmstead, 324 Broadway (1870)

Peabody Farmstead, 256 Marsh Hill Road (1870)

Donohue Farmstead, 343 Donohue Road (1880)

Edward Richardson Farmstead, 114 Broadway (late 19" century for extant
buildings)

1374 Broadway (1890)

282 New Boston Road (1895)

583 Methuen Street (1896, English barn possibly older)

437 Parker Road (c. 1946 dairy barn, c. 1865 house)
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IVV. Action Plan

The following GOALS, OBJECTIVES and ACTIONS comprise the strategic framework to
accomplish preserving the historic resources of the town. In so doing, the historic character of
Dracut will be enhanced and serve as a basis for evaluating the type and quality of future
development within the town.

GOAL 1: Build a constituency for historic preservation in Dracut

There is a general sense that many Dracut residents are not interested in the history of the
community and are not particularly aware of the number and quality of historic resources within
the town. Although signs at the entrances to Dracut list its early incorporation date of 1701, such
notice does not appear to inspire curiosity about the town’s heritage. Before any serious
protection of the town’s resources can be accomplished, there needs to be broad support for
preservation by Dracut’s residents. Newcomers need to be introduced to the community’s
historic treasures, long-term residents need to have their apathy challenged, and natives be
converted to advocates for the resources. This observation leads necessarily to the following
objectives.

Objective: Increase Public Awareness and Appreciation of Dracut’s Historic Resources

ACTIONS:

= Persuade persons in leadership roles of organizations that own significant historic
properties, as well as private property owners, to nominate them to National Register of
Historic Places (e.g. the Old Yellow Meeting House and Grange buildings).

= Organize a Historic House Tour of Dracut’s significant historic buildings.

= Air “Your Town” shows on Public Access TV to highlight specific historic resources in
the town and the stories behind them.

= Seek support of area newspapers in publishing articles periodically about the town’s
history and historic resources.

= Highlight the history of the neighborhoods through bill inserts, articles posted on the
town website, and other media.

= Develop an attractive set of banners, displays and handouts to promote the DHC and
historic preservation in connection with events such as Old Home Day.

» Keep Town’s website up-to-date with new information about DHC activities and
preservation initiatives and documentation (historic resource database, individual and
area inventory forms, relevant web links, etc.)

Objective: Involve people of all ages in historic preservation efforts

ACTIONS:

= Work with the School Department to incorporate history of local landmarks in the
elementary, middle school and high school curriculums.

= Sponsor a local historic preservation day with an appropriate annual event; either in
February, which is the anniversary of the Town’s incorporation, or during the month
of May, which is National Historic Preservation Month. In conjunction with such an
event, recruit students to undertake research into specific historic properties and
pursue co-sponsorship with the Dracut Historical Society.

= Explore establishing a “Dracut Preservation Alliance” with interested persons to foster
connections between people who own historic houses and properties and those who
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are interested in historic architecture (this organization could ultimately become a
501.c.3 not-for-profit organization and assist with fundraising for preservation efforts).

= Promulgate how-to information about researching house histories on the DHC
webpage.

= Maintain a prioritized list of properties needing documentation; when research is
complete add the information to the historic resource database.

= Contact the Boy Scout organization yearly to request help with specific projects that
enhance preservation of historic resources (e.g. Eagle Scout projects).

= Seek the cooperation of area realtors in identifying newcomers to the area in order to
share Dracut’s heritage with them. Prepare materials about the history of various
neighborhoods that can be produced in pamphlet form and be available through the
DHC’s webpage.

GOAL 2. Protect Dracut’s (Physical) Historic Resources

Dracut has lost many of its historic buildings over the years. Of the 57 historic resources that
have been documented and listed in the Massachusetts Historical Commission’s inventory only
47 are still extant. Many of those that have not been demolished have been altered by
unsympathetic additions. In other instances the historic buildings have been diminished by new
construction with generic “franchise” designs in proximity to important historic buildings. This
has resulted in a lessening of the historic character of this very old town. In other areas, cohesive
neighborhoods that continue to provide important housing choices and affordable dwellings are
lost through ongoing tear-downs and replacement with houses out of scale with their neighbors.

The attractiveness of Dracut is devalued to the extent that it loses its historic buildings or they
are modified in an unsympathetic manner. This has been recognized within the town’s Master
Plan, which has a number of objectives relating to the preservation and protection of its historic
resources. Thus a concerted effort is needed to focus the community’s attention on the following
objectives.

Objective: Ensure that significant historic buildings, structures, objects, and sites are not
lost through ignorance or neglect
ACTIONS:
= Request that the DHC’s Reconnaissance Survey Database be made a regular part of all
development, planning, and zoning appeal reviews to ensure that decision-makers are
aware of any historic property that may be affected.
= Review the goals of the Town’s Master Plan with the Planning Board and Town
Selectmen to remind the members of the overall goals for the community and the part
historic preservation plays in achieving them.
= Request that the Board of Selectmen set a policy of consulting the DHC and Historical
Society regarding the naming or renaming of streets, sites, structures and/or historic
buildings.
= Schedule an annual meeting with the Planning Board to present updated information on
the town’s historic resources.

Objective: Protect Rare Historic Resources with Appropriate Regulatory Measures
ACTIONS:
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» Draft a “Demolition Review” Bylaw for consideration at Town Meeting.

» Draft a “Historic Preservation” Bylaw that provides for local designation of historic
districts and individual landmarks under current state enabling legislation.

» Draft a “Conservation District” Bylaw that provides some level of protection for those
historic resources and neighborhoods of more recent dates and that will take time for
recognition of their historic qualities.

= Engage in the drafting and refining of an Overlay District for Dracut Center that will
enhance the historic properties located there.

Objective: Establish Incentives for Private Property Owners to Preserve, Maintain &
Restore their Historic Properties
ACTIONS:
= Invite the Town Assessor to address the DHC regarding how historic properties are
assessed and what options there could be for any special dispensation when
restoration, rehabilitation and investment in documented contributing historic
properties is undertaken.
= Advocate for property tax incentives for stabilization and restoration of historic
properties through discussions with Town Manager, Town Planner and Selectmen,
and town residents.
= Institute an Annual “Preservation Award Program” for property owners (both private
and public) to recognize restoration efforts or sensitive adaptive reuse of recognized
historic properties and publicize widely both the program and the recipients of the
awards (See Appendix D for model).
= Fundraise to obtain financial means to provide plaques to Preservation Award
winners. (This could be a function of a Dracut Preservation Alliance if one can be
successfully organized.)

Objective: Promote “Adaptive Reuse” of Historic Buildings as a means to enhance their
long-term survival

ACTIONS:

» Request the Town Planner undertake a review of the town’s zoning regulations to
identify any obstacles to adapting residential buildings, barns, and garages to
compatible uses that would prolong their utility.

= Work with the Town Planner and Town Counsel to draft a bylaw that would provide
special use permits for adaptive reuse of documented historic buildings.

GOAL 3: Document Dracut’s Historic Resources

One of the primary duties of the DHC is to undertake survey work and regularly update its
knowledge of the town’s historic resources. The goal of increasing the number of historic
properties that are documented in a detailed manner, on inventory forms acceptable to the
Massachusetts Historical Commission (MHC) will fulfill this duty. In addition, the information
gained through this exercise, if publicized, can be used to create interest among Dracut residents
in the historic resources found in the town. If individual property owners undertake to research
the history of their own homes, there is an increased likelihood of them becoming supporters of
the DHC’s preservation efforts. Further, once additional inventory forms are on file with MHC,
some level of protection from actions of the federal and state governments is increased. But
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most importantly, documentation of Dracut’s most significant properties is a first step to getting
listings on the National Register of Historic Places, which offers some tax incentives for property
owners to preserve, rehabilitate or restore their historic buildings.

Objective: Increase the number of historic properties in town that have intensive-level
documentation

ACTIONS:

= Regularly review the Town-wide Reconnaissance-Level Historic Resource Survey
findings and database and prioritize those properties that should receive priority for
being documented at an intensive level.

= Recruit the owners of historic homes and other buildings to undertake the background
research necessary to complete MHC inventory forms; give recognition to those who
do this work at an annual awards ceremony.

= Sponsor nominations to the National Register of Historic Places for Dracut’s most
significant historic resources and areas such as the areas identified in this study as
being potential historic districts (the Old Yellow Meeting House and Grange Hall
may each be individually eligible, but are also contained within the potential Dracut
Center Historic District.

= Secure funding for intensive-level surveys and survey updates of Dracut’s most
significant buildings, especially those that are threatened.

= Apply for grants from the Massachusetts Historical Commission for ongoing survey,
designation, and public education work.

= Draft a bylaw that requires property owners to document significant historic buildings
and/or structures being demolished for any reason to Level 2 standards of the Historic
American Building Survey and Historic American Engineering Record (HABS/
HAER).

Objective: Broaden the types of resources that are documented on MHC inventory forms
ACTIONS:
= Review Survey Plan portion of this Preservation Plan document on an annual basis to
update it and evaluate which types of resources have not been sufficiently
documented.
= Apply annually for grant funding from MHC and the Community Preservation
Committee for survey work that is identified in the Survey Plan portion of this plan.

GOAL 4: Raise the Profile of the Dracut Historical Commission

In order to effectively advocate for the preservation and protection of Dracut’s historic resources,
the DHC must be recognized as an official town board with specific duties and responsibilities.
Residents must be educated about the advice that the DHC can impart when changes to their
historic homes or businesses are contemplated, so as to protect the attractiveness and value of
their individual property, as well as to the community as a whole.
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Objective: Enable Dracut residents to know who to contact regarding their historic homes
and concerns about other historic properties.
ACTIONS:
= List the DHC and its members on the Town’s website under Boards with a
corresponding webpage with appropriate contact information.
= Request that the Historical Society, which is a private non-profit corporation, be
relocated from the list of official “Boards” on the town’s website to a separate
category or on the DHC’s webpage.
= Ensure continuance of recent Town staff support of the DHC at its meetings.

Objective: Strengthen other town boards’ understanding of the role of the DHC and the
value of its contributions of its members in making Dracut a more attractive place and
cohesive community.
ACTIONS:
= Ensure that meetings of the DHC are listed on the Town’s “Calendar of Events”
= Ensure that the DHC receives all agendas of the Planning Board, Zoning Board,
Building Committee, and the Community Preservation Committee.
= Request joint meetings with the Planning Board whenever developments or other
actions (such as rezoning) by the Planning Board have the potential to impact a
historic resource in the town.
= Meet annually with the Planning Board to report on new information, recent
preservation activities, and air any concerns brought up by current development
projects.

Objective: Educate Dracut residents about the role of the DHC

ACTIONS:
=  Get the Massachusetts Historical Commission’s training DVD aired on Public
Access TV.

= Request that each member of the DHC to make at least one formal presentation to
a community group about the DHC and its ongoing activities.

= |ssue news releases to local media for all new preservation initiatives and events
sponsored by the DHC.

Objective: Form an Alliance with the Dracut Land Trust
ACTIONS:
= Provide support for the Dracut Land Trust’s mission to protect the open space and
rural character of the town.
= Work for support of specific preservation initiatives regarding rural structures
such as barn preservation through groups such as Preservation Massachusetts.

GOAL 5: Enhance the Long-term Effectiveness of the Historical Commission’s work
All the efforts of the DHC to preserve historic resources will be for naught if it doesn’t ensure
that the systems and policies put into place as a result of this preservation plan are not continued
over the long term. This historic preservation plan must be viewed as a foundation for
preservation efforts in Dracut that will continue well into the foreseeable future. Building
momentum with preservation successes will improve the residents’ appreciation for the historic
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character of the town and make saving Dracut’s historic resources easier. The success of saving
Harmony Hall, for example, can provide an example of what the community can do when it
works together. Success leads to other successes and eventually a much greater understanding of
the value of historic preservation to the community as a whole.

Objective: Obtain official recognition of and acceptance of the Dracut Preservation Plan

ACTIONS:

= Request a work session with the Town Selectmen and review the Preservation Plan
with them and ask for their acceptance and support.

= Meet on an annual basis with the Town Selectmen to update them on the
accomplishments of the DHC with respect to the goals and objectives in this plan.

= Publicize the meetings of the DHC with the Town Selectmen to ensure they are aware
of ongoing actions and the significance of properties under review and enhance
coordination of policies and decisions.

Objective: Obtain Certified Local Government (CLG) Status through the Massachusetts
Historical Commission
ACTIONS:
= Establish one or more historic districts so as to qualify under current requirements for
CLG designation.
= Advocate for a revised MHC policy regarding eligibility for CLG status.
= Work to pass a more comprehensive Historic Preservation bylaw at Town Meeting.

Objective: Upgrade DHC members’ background with regard to architectural styles,
National Register standards for rehabilitation, and other aspects necessary to guide
residents in improving their historic properties.
ACTIONS:
= |nvite MHC staff to provide regional training sessions hosted by the DHC beginning
with a session on Demolition Review Bylaws.
= Members should attend state and national historic preservation conferences whenever
possible.
= Members to become acquainted with the National Park Service site with its
preservation/rehabilitation content.
= Town to purchase a group subscription to Preservation magazine put out by the
National Trust for Historic Preservation, such that each member receives his or her
own copy.

Objective: Maintain interest and momentum in achieving the goals of this Preservation
Plan for the long-term protection and appreciation of the town’s historic resources.
ACTIONS:
= Schedule a review of progress annually prior to submission of a report to be published
in the Annual Town Report.
= Evaluate long-term progress with a written report at the five-year anniversary of this
Preservation Plan.
= Celebrate and publicize each ACTION identified in the Preservation Plan that is
successfully undertaken and achieved.
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V. Prioritization

The DHC discussed how to prioritize the above goals, objectives and actions at its August 2012
meeting. Recognizing how much they wanted to accomplish but also the limited time, money
and energy resources available to them, the members determined that the most urgent need was
to accomplish Goal # 1 — To Build a Constituency for Preservation. The top priority under that
goal was deemed to be Objective #2- Increase Public Awareness and Appreciation of Dracut’s
Historic Resources. The DHC realized that gaining a presence on the Town’s website, which
until that point had substituted “Historical Society” for “Historical Commission” under “Town
Boards,” was probably the most efficient and effective way for making the information gathered
during the Reconnaissance Survey available to the public. Thus uploading this plan and survey,
along with information on how residents can research and document their own properties, was
the most immediate Action to be taken. With the redesign of the Town’s website in the fall of
2012 together with receipt of the electronic copies of the survey database, report and
preservation plan, this Action should be accomplished by the end of the year.

Other Actions under Goal # 1 are to be undertaken in the immediate future so that the DHC can
then begin its substantive work of protecting Dracut’s historic resources (Goal #2). With public
awareness and outreach ongoing, the DHC will be ready to accomplish a key Action under that
Goal—getting a Demolition Review Bylaw adopted at Town Meeting.

With these few steps taken, it is anticipated that more residents will want to become involved in
the town’s preservation activities and those remaining in Goals, Objectives and Actions will
become a blueprint for the DHC’s efforts over the next several years. It should be noted that one
of the Actions specified under Goal # 5 is to conduct a complete review of activities and
accomplishments in light of the DHC’s goals after 5 years (in the fall of 2017).

VI. Tools & Resources

A. National Programs

National Park Service

The National Park Service, which runs the National Register of Historic Places and National
Landmark programs, has an extensive website. The technical information it provides includes
how to fill out National Register nomination forms (http://www.nps.gov/nr/index.htm), archives
of listed NR properties and guidelines on how to treat historic properties (the Secretary of
Interior’s Standards for Historic Preservation: http://www.nps.gov/hps/tps/standguide/).

Whether a historic property in Dracut is officially designated by the town or not, the above
resources can be disseminated to residents and business owners to inform them as to the
significance of their properties and how to sensitively rehabilitate and restore them.

The National Park Service also administers the Preserve America grant program, which can be
viewed online at http://www.nps.gov/hps/hpg/preserveamerica/index.htm.
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The National Trust for Historic Preservation

The National Trust for Historic Preservation is a privately funded nonprofit organization that was
chartered by the U. S. Congress in 1949. It is devoted to preserving our nation’s physical
heritage and conducts a number of needed programs. These include organizing an annual
National Preservation Conference, listing historic properties for sale, publicizing endangered
properties (“11 Most Endangered”); and owning historic sites. In addition, the NTHP offers
limited grant funds in three competitive rounds—~Feb. 1, June 1, and October 1. Contact
information is available on its website: http://www.preservationnation.org/.

The Trust for Public Land

The nonprofit Trust for Public Land was founded in 1972 to protect land in and around cities. It
has pioneered new land conservation measures that enable land to be used as parks, gardens, and
other natural places, ensuring livable communities for generations to come. There may be
opportunities to partner with this organization to accomplish preservation of the important
farmsteads and associated open space called out in this document. The Trust for Public Land has
an office in Boston and can be located online at http://www.tpl.org/ or by phone at
617-371-0558.

B. State-wide Organizations

Massachusetts Historical Commission

The go-to organization for assistance with a variety of preservation efforts is the Massachusetts
Historical Commission (MHC), which operates under the auspices of the Secretary of the
Commonwealth’s Office. The Commission consists of 17 members appointed from various
disciplines who serve as the State Review Board for state and federal preservation programs. The
Commission is chaired by Secretary of the Commonwealth, William Francis Galvin. The
professional staff of the Commission includes historians, architects, archaeologists, geographers,
and preservation planners. The state's preservation programs are administered through MHC's
Preservation Planning, Grants, and Technical Services Divisions. In addition, MHC is the office
of the State Historic Preservation Officer, as well as the office of the State Archaeologist. It was
established by the legislature in 1963 to identify, evaluate, and protect important historical and
archaeological assets of the Commonwealth.

One of the services maintained by MHC is the Massachusetts Cultural Resource Information
System (MACRIS), an online repository of historic resource surveys. This listing of historic
properties, and the documentary information it contains, provides the basis for official action by
MHC in helping communities preserve their historic assets. Technical help with bylaws and
other legal means, such as preservation easements, is also available from MHC. And as noted
above, the department offers grants and assistance with tax credits related to preservation
activities.

MHC also produces a number of valuable publications that are practical guides to accomplishing
preservation goals, from legal background to model programs (such as preservation award
programs).

While MHC’s grant funds are fairly limited at this point due to the strong level of competition
for shrinking funds, the DHC can improve its chances if it is able to convince Town Meeting to
designate a historic district. This benchmark activity would put the Town of Dracut in a position
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to become a “Certified Local Government,” that is an official part of the National Park Service’s
preservation program, and greatly improve the chances of obtaining matching funds for the
DHC’s preservation work.

Another resource provided by MHC is the email-based MassPress listserve at
masshistpres@cs.umb.edu, to which historical commission members, preservation planners,
architects, historians and other professionals associated with historic preservation belong. These
people are willing advisors for all kinds of preservation issues that arise—from CPA funding and
bylaw enactment to recommended restoration craftspersons and advertising request for proposals
(RFPs).

Preservation Massachusetts

Preservation Massachusetts or PM was founded in 1989. It is a non-profit organization that is
dedicated to preserving the Commonwealth’s historic and cultural heritage. In keeping with its
original mission, the organization works in partnership with national, state and local preservation
organizations and individuals across the Commonwealth. It has a variety of programs that
support the work of local preservation organizations, including education, advocacy, and
legislative initiatives.

PM maintains a directory of Massachusetts-based preservation professionals and other resources
on its website. This is a resource that can be used to obtain proposals for future preservation
work. In addition, the DHC can use it to locate qualified preservation craftspersons to assist
owners of Dracut’s historic properties when they are engaged in rehabilitating or maintaining the
town’s historic building stock, including the monuments in its cemeteries.

Preserve Mass Barns is a PM program dedicated to advocating for the preservation of
Massachusetts’ historic barns and outbuildings in their agricultural settings. Through awareness
and education it advocates for these historic buildings that are threatened by neglect,
development and changing agricultural needs. For Dracut, with its strong rural character and
significant agricultural land uses still intact, this program can be particularly helpful. Similarly,
PM has programs that deal with the preservation issues around historic schools and religious
buildings, both of which Dracut needs to deal with.

Another of PM’s programs is the release of an annual list of 10 most threatened historic
resources in Massachusetts, which focuses attention on the significance of them and motivates
the powers that be to consider ways to ensure their preservation and ongoing viability. This
project may be helpful to the DHC in highlighting the importance of preserving its remaining
historic resources.

PM also has three “circuit riders,” staff that is available to come out and assist with a variety of

preservation needs. The organization has a strong online presence and can be contacted via its
website: www.preservationmass.org.
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C. Local Resources

Community Preservation Act

The most fruitful resource for ongoing preservation activities is undoubtedly Dracut’s
Community Preservation Act program overseen by the Community Preservation Committee.
One of the rationale for its establishment and a requirement for expenditure of funds is to support
local historic preservation projects. Such appropriated funds can be used as matches for other
grant opportunities that become available. The individual Actions specified in this document can
be cited as a foundation for projects needing outside funds to be accomplished.

Dracut Land Trust

The Dracut Land Trust is a nonprofit corporation that was incorporated in 1999. Already it has
secured important tracts of open space that help to protect Dracut’s historic rural character.
Whenever and wherever possible, the DHC should interface with and support the activities of the
DLT as it is a major resource for protecting Dracut’s endangered farmsteads and farmland. The
current President and Treasurer of the DLT is Attorney George Malonis, who maintains an office
in Dracut.

New Entry Sustainable Farming Project

“The mission of the New Entry Sustainable Farming Project (New Entry) is to assist people with
limited resources who have an interest in small-scale commercial agriculture, to begin farming in
Massachusetts. The broader goals of New Entry are to support the vitality and sustainability of
the region's agriculture, to build long term economic self-reliance and food security among
participants and their communities, and to expand access to high-quality, culturally appropriate
foods in underserved areas through production of locally-grown foods.” This organization is
associated with Tufts University maintains an office in Lowell and already has a presence in
Dracut. It may be one of the best options for maintaining the farmland and rural character so
important to Dracut’s heritage. The organization’s website is: http://www.nesfp.org/.

D. Tools & Other Resources

Appendices D, E and F to this document provide a list of recommended articles and books (along
with some copies of articles) as well as information on additional historic preservation
organizations that may be helpful in achieving the Goals and Objectives of this Preservation
Plan. There are examples of programs elsewhere that can provide appropriate models for the
DHC’s preservation efforts.

These days the Internet itself provides instant access to a wide array of model preservation

programs and actions that should serve to inspire additional actions and efforts beyond those
specified in this document.
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I.  Project Overview

A. Survey Objectives

One of the duties of the Dracut Historical Commission (DHC) is to conduct surveys of significant
historic, architectural, and cultural landmarks and historic districts within the town of Dracut. To
update the 1980 Reconnaissance Survey undertaken by the Massachusetts Historical Commission
(MHC), the DHC obtained funding from the town’s Community Preservation Committee to
undertake a town-wide survey which would serve as the basis for a Preservation Plan for the town.
After issuing a Request for Proposals with the assistance of the Northern Middlesex Council of
Governments, the Town hired Larson fisher Associates, Inc. (LFA) for the project.

The goal of this survey was to compile a basic level of information on all historic resources in the
town constructed on or before 1965 and to associate each of them with periods and themes
determined to have historic and/or architectural significance. A number of historic properties had
been previously identified (57 Inventory Forms are on file with the Massachusetts Historical
Commission), which provided some background information about the types of resources that are
still extant in the town. Fieldwork was undertaken by Philip Pendleton, an Architectural Historian
and associate of LFA, and resulted in the recording and classifying extant historic resources. This
information is provided in two formats: 1) this report, which provides an overview and analysis of
the findings, illustrates outstanding types of resource, and discusses their architectural significance
and 2) a digital database with information on each of the buildings surveyed. These products are
intended to aid the DHC and the town in its preservation efforts.

B. Survey Methodology

A first step in this reconnaissance survey was to develop an understanding of the history of the
town, which necessitated review of historical sources available through the Dracut Historical
Society along with various histories, historical maps, census data, etc., much of it available online.
(See APPENDIX G, Bibliography.) Section Il of this document provides the historical context for
the historic resources located in Dracut.

The next step was to obtain a comprehensive list of properties in the town that were built in 1965
or in prior years (fifty years being the general threshold set by the National Park Service for a
property to be considered historic), together with their tax parcel identification and associated
addresses from which a database of historic properties could be built. There are still no state or
federal standards or models for digital survey projects, so a basic method has been created by the
consultant to provide a framework by which historic resources can be evaluated. The digital
format will allow information about these properties (and others as time goes on) to be updated on
an ongoing basis and mapped using the Town of Dracut’s Geographic Information System. With
these two steps completed, the field work to identify and document the town’s historic resources
was begun.

From July through November fieldwork was undertaken that involved the visual inspection of
over 5,000 developed properties in the town. Vacant land was not included in the survey,
although pastures and other open spaces associated with working farmsteads were noted. This
information allowed construction of a database of 2,017 individual properties that were described
and categorized in a manner that would allow the findings to be sorted and preliminarily evaluated
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as to their historical and architectural significance. Over 3000 photographs of primary buildings
and many accessory buildings were taken in the course of the fieldwork to provide an up-to-date
record of their appearance. Style, date of construction, and descriptive information, including the
various buildings found on a given tax parcel, were all entered into the database. (See Appendix
A, a digital database, which will be accessible online at the Town of Dracut website/Historical
Commission page when this Action of the Preservation Plan is implemented.)

Construction dates for the primary structures on the surveyed properties were determined by
several means. Town Assessor data was the starting point. However, these dates are typically
“effective construction dates” that reflect remodeling, additions and general updating since the
actual time of construction. Thus, historic maps were consulted to determine when buildings were
depicted, which, when correlated to the style, materials and physical evidence of the building,
allowed a closer determination of a particular building’s period of construction. Thus the database
also includes a column for key historical information that was researched to make these
determinations. This column may and should be supplemented as future research is undertaken on
any given property. Where historical maps and other source materials were referenced, that
information was also entered into this portion of the database. This latter task took much of 2012
to complete.

Because of the great proliferation of post-World War Il subdivisions in Dracut and the
extraordinary number of residences built between 1945 and 1966, properties built in this period
were documented by means of their subdivisions. There were 66 of these that appeared to date to
the 1945-1965 time period and they included over 3,000 distinct tax parcels. (See Appendix C, a
digital database for a listing of the subdivisions and the tax parcels contained therein.) These
properties, while not generally considered historic despite meeting the 50-year-old standard, are
the potential historic districts of the future. Thus tracking them is a long-term task of the DHC.
For these more recent properties, the Middlesex County Land Records were searched online for
subdivision plat maps that provide information about owners, surveyors and developers active in
Dracut in the 20" century.

After the fieldwork was completed and the information gathered was entered into the database, the
types of historic resources found in Dracut were being evaluated and described. Section 111 of this
document provides a written explanation of the many important resources located here. These
resources have been organized by a series of timeframes which connects them to the historical
periods in which they were constructed. These historical periods are as follows:

= Contact & Early Settlement Periods (1500-1620 & 1620-1675)
= Colonial Period (1675-1775)

= Federal Period (1775-1830)

= Rural Development - Early Industrial Period (1830-1870)

= Late Industrial — Early Suburbanization Period (1870-1900)

= Early Modern Period (1900 — 1945), and

= Post World War Il Suburbanization (1945 — 1965).

Identification of archeological sites, prehistoric or historic, was beyond the scope of this survey.
Information about archeological sites should not be made available to the general public in order
to protect against unauthorized digging and vandalism. When a previously undisturbed property is
being newly developed, it should be assumed there is the potential that such archeological
resources, possibly even graves, could be uncovered. If this should result, the DHC will need to
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take steps to ensure that state authorities are notified, the sites evaluated, and significant sites
preserved.

C. Selection & Designation Criteria

A number of Dracut’s historic resources are recommended for designation, protection and future
study. (See Part One, Section I11.C, page 17-18.) Selections were guided by the criteria
established for evaluating nominations to the National Register of Historic Places and by the
Historic Properties Survey Manual published by the Massachusetts Historical Commission.
When applied at a local level of significance, the National Register criteria is a valuable tool for
determining a property’s importance in the broader historical contexts and themes that are a
reflection of the locale’s history. It is important to maintain a focus on the local perspective,
otherwise notable properties can be overlooked. Because specific historic documentation is
limited at the reconnaissance level of survey, the condition assessment is necessarily superficial
and the contexts and themes only broadly developed. Thus these selections have been as inclusive
as possible. Whereas not all of the selected properties will necessarily achieve State and National
Register listings, it will be important for the DHC to be familiar with all of the town’s significant
resources, including those at the margins. Just because the Massachusetts Historical Commission
or the National Park Service may choose not to confer their distinctions on a property does not in
and of itself mean the historic resource is not important to Dracut. The National Register criteria
will still provide the DHC with the basis to make their own evaluations within an established
evaluative framework.

1. SIGNIFICANCE
There are four fundamental criteria by which the National Register assesses the significance of
historic resources. Properties are categorized as significant for:
a. their relationship to a historic event or theme significant in American history, such as
settlement, agriculture or tourism;
b. their association with an individual who made a significant contribution to the history
of the local community, state or nation;
c. their distinction as an example of a type, period or method of construction; and
d. their archeological potential to provide information about an important aspect of
prehistory or history.

Property must be at least fifty years of age to establish a suitable context for the evaluation of
significance unless it can be demonstrated that it has achieved significance in less than fifty years.
For example, buildings with outstanding architectural merit may be considered for nomination to
the National Register. No property has been identified as potentially being eligible for this
exception within this survey.

Note that the State Historic Preservation Office, which in Massachusetts is the MHC, that
determines whether a property (or group of properties) is eligible for the State and National
Registers and only after an Inventory Form documenting it/them has been submitted to the agency
to allow for its evaluation.

2. INTEGRITY

A property must retain sufficient physical integrity from its period of significance to be authentic.
The National Register criteria contain an integrity test to ensure that only authentic buildings
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receive listings. At this reconnaissance level of survey, selections are not based on physical
integrity—all properties with the potential to meet one of the criteria were recorded. The physical
integrity of a particular property should be considered only if it reaches the status of being
considered for local designation or nomination to the National Register. However, in
documenting the town’s historic properties, a preliminary assessment was included, consisting of
four classifications: “intact,” “minimally altered,” “altered,” and “significantly altered.” The
“intact” classification includes those changes, additions and alterations that can be considered
historic within the 50-year historic timeframe. “Minimally altered” is a classification that
indicates the building/property can easily be viewed as historic despite minor changes such as
residing or window replacement that has not involved changes to the size or placement of
windows. “Altered” properties indicate that some significant aspect of a building’s original design
has been compromised, such as when an original front porch has been fully enclosed. When a
property has been evaluated as “significantly altered” its original historic character and/or form is
no longer discernible.

I1. Historical Context

Early Development

Dracut, as of 2012, has become fairly densely built up with most of its building stock dating to the
late nineteenth and twentieth centuries reflecting the decades when the town began to experience
suburbanization. However, there are a number of historic resources representing the early
settlement period spanning the colonial and early national years. European-American settlement
commenced in the area within Dracut in about the 1660s.* The provincial government approved
the separation of the Dracut area from the Town of Chelmsford and its incorporation as the Town
of Dracut in 1701. As is true in most areas along the eastern seaboard of the United States, there
are evidently very few if any surviving buildings in Dracut that date to the seventeenth or early
eighteenth centuries. Certainly pioneering English people did settle the area during this era,
although the homesteads were probably not numerous and were fairly widely distributed on the
landscape. Surviving physical manifestations of the community’s early Anglo-American
settlement pattern, in the form of structures such as early tract boundaries, fields, pastures,
meadows, orchards, stone walls, hedgerows, roadways, farm lanes, milldams and millraces, or the
remnants of such structures, no doubt exist, however. Such resources compose what one might
call “surface archaeology.”

Dracut’s network of historic public roadways constitutes a framework linking the town’s older
properties to one another. Because the population had grown to the extent able to provide the
physical work necessary for maintenance of a public road system (with contributions by the
resident families), the town laid out several roads in 1721. The 1744 map surveyed for the town
by James Ingalls depicted four roadways extending within Dracut’s modern boundary:*

= Gumpus Road; then Mammoth Road northward from the junction with Gumpus
= Hildreth Street (southerly segment); then Colburn Avenue northward

! The term “present-day” in this section consistently refers to Dracut as it exists in 2012.
2 James Ingalls, A Platt of Dracut Township,1744, copy on file at Dracut Historical Society.
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= Riverside Street, Pleasant Street, the westerly segment of Arlington Street, Broadway Road
(the segment south of its junction with westerly segment Wheeler Road and Jones Avenue)
and Wheeler Road combined to create a through road from the southwest to northeast

= Methuen Street

Afterwards, the maps of Dracut made in 1791, 1831, and 1856 each showed more public roadways
added to the town system during the respective intervals, such that most of modern Dracut’s
principal roads were in place by the latter year.?

Agriculture

As was typical in early American communities through the early nineteenth century, farming and
the businesses directly connected with it provided the means of livelihood for virtually all of
Dracut’s inhabitants. Related businesses included processing industries (such as grain mills,
fulling mills, sawmills, and tanneries) and artisanal service businesses (e.g., smithies and
cooperages), The state and federal population census statistics for the eighteenth and nineteenth
centuries indicate that Dracut’s population remained at a low density with relatively slow ongoing
increase until well after the Civil War. Census takers counted 1,173 residents in Dracut in 1776
and some 1,679 souls in 1800. (The historic population number located within the modern Dracut
boundary is incapable of exact calculation due to changes in the town boundary.) This pattern of
slow population growth was typical in overwhelmingly early rural America as young adults
pursuing opportunity tended to move away either to urban centers or to newly developing
settlements where land to create new farmsteads was more readily available, with only a minority
remaining in their own towns. Well into the nineteenth century, American farming methods
tended to deplete the soil and thus demanded the creation of relatively large farmstead properties
of 150 or more acres for sustained use by the farm family. Later, increasingly intensive farming
methods with more careful use of the soil including better fertilization, and increasing
mechanization, would enable farmers to farm successfully on smaller properties.

Agriculture continued to play a significant role in Dracut’s economy from the town’s initial
settlement well into the 20" century. Gazetteer compiler Elias Nason writing in 1874 emphasized
farming as a consideration for the growth of Dracut during that period and noted that:

The soil is generally very good, and many of the people are engaged in raising garden
vegetables for the Lowell market. The number of farms is 193, embracing 14,362 acres;
and some of them, as that of Milton Fox, Esq., are among the best for hay in Middlesex
County.*

An earlier gazetteer (1849) had also reported on the local importance of truck farming (vegetable
and fruits).> These accounts have much to say about the character of local agriculture and its
relation to the burgeoning Lowell market for local produce; however, Dracut’s surviving
farmstead buildings testify to the fact that there was more to the town’s local agriculture at that

® Frederic French, A Plan of Dracutt, 1791, copy on file at the Dracut Historical Society; Benjamin F. Varnum,
Survey of Town of Dracut, 1831, copy on file at University of Massachusetts Center for Lowell History, Lowell;
Henry F. Walling, Map of Middlesex County, Massachusetts (Boston: Smith & Bumstead, 1856), copy of Dracut
excerpt on file at Dracut Historical Society.

* Elias Nason, A Gazetteer of the State of Massachusetts (Boston: B.B. Russell, 1874), p. 184.

> John Hayward, A Gazetteer of Massachusetts (Boston: J.P. Jewett & Co., 1849).
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time. The presence of many large barns from the nineteenth century and the first third or so of the
twentieth century, including dairy barns from late within that span, and the known historic
operation of gristmills within the town until about the 1880s, reflect a varied history of local
agriculture. The barns and mills suggest that important agricultural activities in Dracut through
the nineteenth century and into the twentieth included the cultivation of grain, the harvesting of
hay, dairying, and the raising of livestock for meat, leather, and, for a time, wool. Dairy farming
has continued up to the present, as exemplified by Shaw Farm. This mixture of livestock-related,
cereal, orchard, and garden commodities reflected the general pattern of New England agriculture
in most areas during the eighteenth, nineteenth, and early twentieth centuries.®

Dracut’s surviving historic barns (including the barn sections in connected farm buildings) are
representative of several types including the traditional English barn, side-hill English barn, gable-
front barn, gable-front bank barn, and ground-level stable barn types.” Connected farm buildings
are a notable presence throughout much of northern New England, especially Massachusetts, and
are amply reflected in the Dracut landscape. The creation of these complex structures evidently
became a common practice of the region’s farmers during the early to mid-nineteenth century as
an element in an overall cultural trend toward rural improvement and the bringing of an enhanced
sense of order and improved agricultural methods to the countryside. Architectural historian
Thomas Hubka asserts that farmers developed this building type because it offered “weather
protection for the critical dooryard created by the line of connected buildings,” and because it
provided “the convenient organization of agricultural and home-industry workrooms in the
flexible, multipurpose ell,” i.e., the “little house-back house” middle section between the “big
house” and the barn. The dooryard, the area outside the building adjoining the kitchen doorway in
the ell, was the scene of much outdoor activity such as chopping firewood, harnessing horses and
oxen, loading or mounting wagons or carriages, processing crops, butchering, and various
domestic chores, as well as the area through which most of the coming and going to and from the
house took place. Furthermore, although the concept of placing human dwelling and barn spaces
under a continuous roof had architectural precedents reaching many centuries back into English
tradition, the early-nineteenth-century farmers were inspired by a similar design in use in elite
architecture in the region. The era of the connected farm building came to a close around 1900;
the risk of fire was making it increasingly costly to insure these buildings.®

The gable-front barn made its appearance in New England around 1830, where it would become a
predominant form for some time. Gable-fronted houses, churches, and public buildings had also
recently been emerging as common types in the region. Advantages inherent in the gable-front
barn included the direction of drainage from the roof to the sides of the building rather than into
the dooryard, and the enhanced ability to extend the barn in length to enlarge its capacity for
stabling and hay storage. Dracut has a number of surviving barns of this form, which lent itself
particularly well to the connected farm building arrangement.

® A related activity considered a part of agriculture in the period was local farmstead lumbering, in which farmers
harvested trees as wanted from their woodlots and had the timber cut at one of Dracut’s water powered sawmills.
Historic maps show that there was evidently always one or more sawmills present from 1791 or earlier through at
least 1889.

" This typology for Dracut’s historic barn types is derived from Thomas Visser, New England Barns, pp. 61-63, 70-71,
74-77, and 97-99.

® Hubka, Big House, Little House, pp. 12-19, 77-78; Visser, New England Barns, pp. 107-109.
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Around 1850, what might be considered a “hybrid” type, the gable-front bank barn, became the
most numerous one being built in New England. The reason for the widespread adoption of this
type had to do with the expansion of dairy farming in the region at this time.® With the textile
industry growing rapidly, city and town populations were keeping pace, and transportation
improvements enabled farmers in a widespread region to serve urban dairy consumers. The
basement in the bank barn offered additional cow stabling. The early twentieth century brought
the development by American agricultural scientists and engineers of the progressive dairy barn,
the type that Visser denotes the ground-level stable barn. This structure incorporated concrete
basement construction, classic dairy barn stabling with steel-pipe stanchions, hay tracks with
projecting hoods over their end-wall garret entries, and voluminous gambrel or “gothic arch” roof
structures. These buildings enabled farmers to meet new sanitation standards.

Industry

Industrial establishments employing waterflow for motive power and other uses in order to
process agricultural products were an essential presence in Dracut by the 1730s and persisted
through the nineteenth century. The 1791 map depicted five such mill locations within the
modern Dracut area, and the 1875 map showed two of the 1791 agriculture-related mills still in
place.10 The 1791 mills in town included at least one fulling mill (“clothers mill”’) where the
miller cleaned, softened and thickened the cloth produced from the linen and wool of local
farmsteads. No buildings from these establishments survive today, however, though traces of
these properties may survive on today’s landscape.

The town’s earliest known manufacturing establishment, i.e., industry not directly related to
agriculture, was the paper mill that stood where Victory Lane meets the east bank of the Beaver
Brook (off Lakeview Avenue). A mill business conducting a fulling mill and a gristmill was
located there in 1791, and the miller established a paper mill as well in 1839. The paper business
became a fairly large-scale operation, run by the Lowell Wadding and Paper Co. in 1874, and after
1883 by Morton L. Bassett and Co. under the name Beaver Brook Paper Mill, until a flood ruined
the plant in 1899. It did not reopen and the building burned down in 1911.*

Two prominent textile mills both began in the 1840s. The earlier one, located on the Beaver
Brook at Pleasant Street in an area known as the Navy Yard, was Merrimac Woolen Mills. It was
established on an existing mill site in 1840 as the Baldwin Woolen Co., as evidenced by the stone
portions of the complex. By 1856 a small village had arisen in the immediate neighborhood of
this mill consisting of millworkers’ dwellings and a few service businesses. New owners acquired
the mill in 1858, organizing as the Merrimac Woolen Co., and built the major brick building in
1862. By 1865, Merrimac was producing “cassimere” woolen cloth and employing 250 people.
The J.P. Stevens Company acquired the plant in the early twentieth century and expanded the
complex.’? In the latter part of the 20" century the property was adapted for use by a variety of
commercial tenants, which are housed there today.

° Ibid.

19 French, Plan of Dracutt, 1791; F. W. Beers, County Atlas of Middlesex, Massachusetts, Dracut map copy on file at
Dracut Historical Society.

! pendergast, Dracut, p. 115; Paquet, History of Dracut, p. 106.

12 pendergast, Dracut, p. 79.
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The second major textile mill was a cotton thread mill established by John H. Pearson in 1843.
Located at the future Collinsville location on the northern section of Beaver Brook, he employed a
pre-existing water privilege. Pearson invited the immigrant brothers, John and Peter Lawson, to
manage the business, which was housed in a relatively small (60 by 40 feet) four-story wooden
mill building (later taken down). By 1856 a hamlet of about 8 or 10 houses and a few businesses
had grown up along the road by the mill. The small size of this settlement suggests that the
number of employees was not great and that many of them came to work from rural parts of the
town. The Pearson business was discontinued in the 1860s, followed by an interval of some years
during which the Merrimac Woolen firm used the building to store machinery. Michael Collins
reopened the mill under a lease in 1876 and purchased the property in 1880, converting the
operation to woolen production. In 1886, Collins undertook a major expansion of the facility,
constructing new buildings of brick. In 1893, he raised the major building from three stories to six
stories in height. At about that date, when the business was at its height under Collins’s
ownership, 260 people worked there. Throughout his ownership, up to 1899, Collins gradually
improved the mill buildings and waterworks and also built tenant houses and at least one larger
apartment building or boarding house for his employees. Collins sold the mill property in 1899 to
the American Woolen Company, which renamed the factory the Beaver Brook Mills. In 1933-
1934, the company divested itself of 43 houses (many of these designed as duplexes) and the large
multiple unit building in Collinsville.™

The growth of Dracut’s two prominent textile mill complexes, combined with the resulting growth
in the town’s population and the construction of housing for the mill employees, forms an
important aspect of Dracut’s history from the mid-nineteenth century through the mid- twentieth
century.

Early Development of Urban Centers

Growth of settlements within present-day Dracut before the late nineteenth century was limited to
clusters of small hamlets (that became the core of Dracut neighborhoods). The town repeatedly
lost territory and its associated population to annexations for other towns as well as to an alteration
of the provincial boundary line demarcating Massachusetts from New Hampshire in 1741. The
reductions in the town’s size via annexation took place in 1755, 1851, 1874, and 1879, on the
three latter occasions by Lowell. Dracut’s population in 1880, following Lowell’s final
annexation of territory, was just 1,595. The 1880 population density for Dracut, 74.5 people per
square mile (as opposed to 1,409 per square mile in 2010), reflected the town’s persistent rural
character, even though four industrial establishments were then reported as routinely employing a
total of about 500 people.**

The 1856 map shows that low-density hamlet development had evolved by that date at four places
within present-day Dracut:*®

3 |bid., 83-86; Paquet, Photographic History, p. 106-107; Plan Showing Land & Buildings in Dracut, Mass. Owned
by Textile Realty Co., October 1933, Plat Book 58, page 19, recorded January 6, 1934, Middlesex North Registry of
Deeds, Lowell.

1 Census of Massachusetts, 1880 (Boston: Commonwealth of Massachusetts, 1883), 97, 594, accessed online via
http://openlibrary.org/books/OL23285329M/Census_of the_Commonwealth_of Massachusetts_1880. The
industrial employees were not necessarily residents of the town. The census reported that the average industrial
employment in Dracut for 1880 numbered 494 people, including 264 men over 15 years of age, 126 women above
15, and 104 children.

> Walling, Map of Middlesex County (1856).
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= The center of the area later known as Collinsville, extending from the junction of
Mammoth Road and Lakeview Avenue eastward along the latter road to the east bank of
Beaver Brook, consisting of about 15 properties, apparently based on the mills at that
location and including a school, a store, a blacksmith shop, and a wheelwright shop.

= A segment of the east-west roadway designated Pleasant Street and Donohue Road,
extending from a location just west of the junction of Donohue with Riverside Street
eastward along Pleasant to the Sladen Street vicinity, apparently centering on the mills at
the Beaver Brook crossing, consisting of about 40 to 50 buildings.

= An area at the junction of Pleasant and Hildreth streets, with properties mainly on the south
side of Pleasant and the east side of Hildreth, apparently consisting of about 12 to 15
properties.

= An area of loosely clustered properties, about 15 in number, on Bridge Street, Arlington
Street, and Greenmont Avenue in the vicinity of the intersections of the two latter streets
with Bridge, centering on the historic Old Yellow Meetinghouse (now the United Church
of Christ).
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The very gradual trend toward low-density urban concentration was evidently based on two
interrelated factors, the one being a natural clustering of tradesmen and artisans at prominent road
junctions, especially with “magnet” institutions present such as the meetinghouse, the other being
the presence of the textile mill businesses.

It is appropriate to emphasize that at the relatively early date of 1856, at least for the three smaller
hamlets, these nascent “urban” places were not closely built up, rather homesteads were
distributed something like 75 to 100 or more yards apart (exceptions would result from related
persons establishing their farmhouses near each other). Elsewhere in town, most homesteads were
situated fairly evenly along the roadways at intervals of a few hundred yards, especially along the
major thoroughfares. It appears from the 1831 map that as one traveled along a road such as
Broadway or Mammoth Road, when you were in front of one homestead there would be another
just in view up ahead or toward the rear. The atlas map of 1875 depicted very little if any
additional concentration of buildings than had existed in 1856.'° The growth of concentrated
settlement apparently awaited the expansion of the Collinsville Mills and the coming of the
streetcar railways.

Early Suburbanization

In the mid-nineteenth century the boom in the industrial development of Lowell, which overtook
that of Dracut, led Dracut residents to commute to work in Lowell. And three consecutive
annexations of portions of Dracut by Lowell (in 1851, 1874, and 1879) reinforced the reversal of
fortunes that eventually led to Dracut becoming a suburb of that city. By the early 1880s, horse-
drawn streetcars had begun operating within the boundary of present-day Dracut. Suburban
development with new residences on individual roadside lots was underway. With the
establishment of the Lowell & Dracut Electric Street Railway in 1889, Dracut was poised for
major growth as a bedroom community. During the streetcar railway era, which persisted as a
vital part of the town’s development into the early 1920s, rail companies built and operated a total
of seven lines extending through the town. However, some of the rail lines were being shut down
as early as 1923."

The first streetcar railway line extended along Lakeview Avenue from Lowell to Collinsville and
then curved to the southwest to reach the shore of Lake Mascuppic at the lake’s eastern corner,
where the company had built the Lakeview Amusement Park (opened in 1889),as part of its initial
investment. The park drew the attention of people in the larger region to the scenic and hitherto
thinly settled northwestern portion of Dracut, and in the ensuing years developers began
subdividing large properties in this area to provide lots for lakeside vacation cottages. Gradually,
as a century transpired and more and more lake vicinity subdivisions were made, nearly all of the
cottages would metamorphose into permanent homes. Beginning in 1939, in the automobile era,
the same process would take place on a smaller scale on a subdivision by Peters Pond in
northeastern Dracut.

Ford Motors commenced production of the reliable and affordable Model T motorcar in late 1908
and from then onward automobile ownership became increasingly common. The car (as well as
the motorbus) joined the streetcar in facilitating residential subdivision development.

16 F.W. Beers, County Atlas of Middlesex, Massachusetts (New York: J.B. Beers & Co., 1875).
" paquet, History of Dracut, pp. 25, 117.
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In addition to the construction of hundreds of dwellings in subdivisions during the initial
suburbanization period (c. 1880 to 1940), hundreds of other individual families evidently created
house lots through purchases made directly from local landowners. Typically homeowners
outside subdivisions situated their residences directly along arterial and collector roadways.
Construction of suburban houses on this individual basis would continue in Dracut following
World War 11, as well as via small lot divisions made by local landowners often consisting of just
one or two lots, again along major roadways.

Local developers established approximately 39 residential subdivisions of substantial size (defined
for the purpose as seven or more house lots) for new construction in Dracut during the period
beginning c. 1890 and continuing to 1939.%® Twenty-eight of these subdivisions date to the years
1890 to 1910, before the automobile became a commonplace asset of middle-class life. Eight of
the subdivisions date to the years 1913-1926 within the automobile era, one to 1932, and two to
1939, both of the latter made by the same owners on the shore of Peters Pond in far northeast
Dracut. From c. 1910 to 1945 most residential construction occurred within older subdivisions in
a very gradual process. The rate of subdivision creation clearly fell off during the years after the
stock market crash of 1929. The 28 early subdivisions were clustered in five geographical areas:

= at or near the boundary with the City of Lowell (five subdivisions)
= along Merrimack Avenue, and thus by the river, in the southeastern part of town (four)

= along or a short distance off of a lengthy corridor formed by two major streets, Pleasant
and Lakeview, extending from a location on Greenmont Avenue just north of its junction
with Pleasant Street, westward along Pleasant Street, and then northwestward along
Lakeview Avenue (ten)

= on the fringe of the Collinsville hamlet (three)

= onor near Lake Mascuppic and Long Pond (six)

This pattern reflected four key locational factors: 1) proximity to Lowell; 2) public transportation
lines extending along Merrimac, Pleasant, and Lakeview; 3) the Collinsville mills; and 4) lakeside
resort neighborhoods in the northwestern part of town. The subdivisions established in the early
automobile decades, between 1913 and 1932, stayed within this geographical framework, although
one that was established around 1915, on streets to the northeast of the Bridge Street-Pleasant
Street intersection, extended the developmental zone somewhat eastward. The 1939 subdivisions
on Peters Pond represented a continuation of the lakeside resort trend in a different and quieter
part of town.

'8 The sources for subdivision documentation combine research in the Middlesex North Registry of Deeds Plat Books
with field survey and review of Dracut’s present-day pattern of landholdings as shown in the current tax parcel map
maintained by town engineers for the Board of Assessors. For many of Dracut’s subdivisions, especially with
regard to those from before 1945, the survey plats were apparently filed in the Deed Books instead of in the Plat
Books. Research has not extended to the Deed Books for this purpose. Of the 39 evident pre-1945 subdivisions,
only 12 (or 31%) have plats filed in the Plat Books, while among the 51 evident post-1944 subdivisions (of seven
or more lots), 37 (73%) are filed in the Plat Books. The approximate date of survey for each evident subdivision
not filed in the Plat Books is based on the date of the earliest house (excepting apparent surviving earlier homestead
dwellings), as recorded in the town assessment record. The number of subdivisions is approximate because any of
the apparent subdivisions (i.e., not recorded in the plat books) could actually consist of two or more subdivisions
situated adjoining to one another. This study did not count the two subdivisions made by the Textile Realty
Company during 1933-1934 in the total number, because those subdivisions were already built up with tenant
houses that had been constructed in the 1880s.
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akeview Avenue and east of Beaver Brook .

Aerial view of a c. 1900 subdivision south of L

The developers of these early subdivisions drew on a limited number of types of organizational
scheme for their developments. The most common arrangement chosen was that in which two or
more streets, perhaps as many as six, led into the subdivision from the public thoroughfare. These
streets would usually, though not always, be linked to one another by smaller cross streets. Often
there were just cross streets linking some of the pairs of major streets. One can look at a plan of
one of these developments and imagine the residents walking along the street in the morning to
reach the streetcar line at the major road on the border of the subdivision. An example is a
subdivision off Lakeview Avenue evidently established circa 1900. Like many of the streetcar era
developments, this one contains housing built all through the twentieth century.
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Aerial view of a c. 1890 subdivision located between Methuen St. and Merrimack Ave. in Kenwood.

A variation seen in a few cases was to have the principal streets extend from one public
thoroughfare peripheral to the tract to another located on its opposite side. The roughly parallel
courses of Merrimack Avenue and Methuen Street enabled a number of early subdivisions in the
southeast part of town to employ this scheme.
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Three other basic forms of subdivision plan were each used in just a few instances before 1945.
One was a “court” arrangement in which a single roadway served a relatively small development,
with either one or two entries from the public thoroughfare. The Upland and Swain streets
development, established circa 1906 and composed exclusively of cottage-scale front gable Gothic
Revival houses, is an example of this type of plan.
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Long Pond Park plat, 1926, located in the far northwest corner of the town.

A few developments employed a plan in which a single major street, terminating in a cul-de-sac,
led into the subdivision, with small side streets branching like the limbs of a tree. Long Pond
Park, surveyed for E. Gaston Campbell in 1926, appears to have used this layout whereby
Richardson Avenue ran from Oak Avenue (now Lakeshore Drive). However, several of the streets
laid out in this plat—Fifth, Seventh, Eighth and Ninth—were never or only partially constructed.
Currently Fifth Street barely exists and what was to be Sixth Street barely extends past Richardson
Avenue and is an extension of E Street, which originates in the subdivision immediately to the
south of Long Pond Park. C Street also now extends to connect with 4™ Street. Another aspect of
the plan that fell by the wayside was the community facilities depicted between 4™ and 5™ streets
north of Richardson Avenue: the proposed tennis court, field house and dance hall.

The beginning of the automobile era saw a few developers begin to use plans involving more
complex arrangements of streets, with larger house lots, apparently intended for middle to upper-
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middle class car owners. As early as 1913 a local landowner, J. W. Wilbur, had his subdivision
Riverside Park laid out in this manner. Like Long Pond Park, the plan was never fully realized.
James and Cross streets running east of Hill Crest Avenue were not developed and Beaver Brook
Street was dead-ended just shy of Hill Crest Avenue rather than angling southeast to connect with
it and points east.

RIVERSIDE PARK
Dracut , Mass.

OWNED BY J.WWILBUR JulylRIN3
Furchased Fram Qi Cabiurer
Scale SOSF107 AL Lot C.E.
33 acres = 2 fots

MIUDLESEX REGISTHY OF OTLOS, ww 0IS),

for e 71 - - -y
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Riverside Park Plat, 1913, located north of Lakeview Ave. between Primrose Hill Rd. and Beaver
Brook.

Post-World War Il Suburbanization

With the conclusion of World War 11 in 1945, like what so many communities experienced
throughout the United States, Dracut immediately entered a prolonged period of suburban
residential development that in fact has never ended, although the rate of growth has tended to rise
and fall with the national and local economy.

Within the period under examination, i.e., 1945 to 1965, developers surveyed and began
construction on approximately 51 residential subdivisions within Dracut (in addition to infill
construction within the 39 older subdivisions). The character of the new wave of development
was dependent upon widespread car ownership, resulting in an opening up of the geographical
distribution of subdivisions (what is now termed sprawl). Although extensive tracts of open land
persisted, the new subdivisions claimed considerable acreage in western and central sections of the
town. Landowners and investors subdivided tracts located along practically all of the arterial
streets and secondary roads in these areas. During the period up to 1965, however, the eastern part
of town remained devoid of such subdivisions apart from continued development along and just
off Merrimack Avenue, with some developments extending toward the southeast from Dracut
Center along Arlington Street, and the establishment of a single subdivision on Parker Road called
Kenwood Heights, laid out in 1962. In the decades since 1965, the process of subdivision
development has continued to gradually fill in the east and central portions of town with built-up
suburban landscape, although a few limited enclaves of open land survive in those areas.
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Development has also moved beyond the southern periphery of eastern Dracut to make sizable
encroachments in that part of town.

The development of residential subdivisions in Dracut during the post-war decades was a process
in which many different developers (or firms) participated, with these entrepreneurs taking a
number of different approaches. At least 24 individual entrepreneurs, partnerships, or firms
engaged in the creation of substantial subdivisions in Dracut during this period. Some undertook
the establishment of several different subdivisions, others were responsible for just one. The
number of house lots involved also varied along a wide spectrum—from a half-dozen or so up to
more than 220. Usually the larger developments were created in an incremental manner. For
example, Leon Litchfield recorded the Rainbow Acres subdivision in four installments between
1948 and 1954, with subsequent construction of 226 houses occurring 1950-1962.'° However,
there were cases in which developers undertook relatively large subdivisions in a single phase,
such as when the partners Costas Psoinos and Antonios Katsikas platted and registered Crosby
Heighgcs), in 1955-1956, with 82 houses constructed during 1956-1963, mostly within the first few
years.

The rhythm of subdivisions was not uniform throughout the period. As measured by surveys of
new subdivisions done in whole (single increment) or in part (sequential process), the
development trend started relatively slowly, with just 1.75 surveys per annum for 1945-1948,
strongly surging during the interval 1949-1956, at 6.375 per annum. This represented the
homecoming of WWII veterans and consequent baby boom. Later, subdivisions returned to an
earlier slower rate during 1957-1965, with a mere 1.78 per annum (perhaps due to over optimism
of developers who created an over abundance of lots in the earlier period).

Conclusion

In more than three centuries of history since first settlement, the town of Dracut has moved
through successive cycles of development. It began as a sparsely populated pioneer community
and became, in turn, a prosperous farming town, a location for vibrant industry, an early suburban
community, and a regional automobile commuter’s residential area. Thus it can be said that
Dracut is truly a representative Massachusetts town. In effect, looking at the town’s historic built
environment, these phases of development make a stratigraphy of layers that can be viewed
similar to the geological layers present in a cutaway hillside. The challenge to the observer lies in
the factor that the architectural-historical stratigraphy is not quite so clear cut; with buildings there
is occasionally more intermingling of individual elements from different layers than one finds
when studying rocks. Still, the town’s built environment provides ample evidence of its rich
history.

9 Middlesex North Plat Books, Vol. 74, Pg. 67, Vol. 83, Pg. 87, and Vol. 84, Pg. 17; house construction dates from
current assessment record of the Dracut Assessor.
% Middlesex North Plat Books, Vol. 87, Pg. 190.
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I11. Dracut’s Historic Resources

A. Contact & Early Settlement Periods (1500-1620 & 1620-1675)

Although the 1980 Survey stated that Dracut was “An important area probably containing many
fish processing and habitation sites” attributable to the Pawtucket group of Native Americans, no
extant resources from the Contact Period were identified as a part of this survey. While such
archaeological resources are potentially extant, their likely locations—on the southeast shore of
Long Pond, near Mascuppic Lake, Peter’s Pond, and along Beaver Brook—have been pretty
thoroughly disturbed by development over the past century or so. Nevertheless, early histories
indicate Dracut was a focal point for native activities taking place on north side of Merrimack.

The earliest settlements in Dracut by Europeans were along the north bank of the Merrimack
River—but these areas were annexed by Lowell. No extant resources from this period, within
present-day Dracut, were identified.

B. Colonial Period (1675-1775)

The town’s earliest surviving houses, usually representing the principal dwellings on what
historically had been substantial farm properties, are along early public roads such as Broadway,
Mammoth Road, Pleasant Street, Marsh Hill Road, New Boston Road, and Colburn Avenue (and
now sited quite close to the rights-of-way due to road widenings over the years). These houses are
mostly story-and-a-half or two-story buildings of timber frame construction with side gable roofs
and three- or five-bay front facades. They are generally built on a plan consisting of a rectangular
footprint with an attached kitchen wing that, in some cases, was added later. Some of the
dwellings are elements in larger connected buildings, with Dracut examples of this building form
including full farmstead specimens with barns as well as smaller connected buildings with carriage
house-stables. There are a few surviving Colonial styles from the eighteenth century.
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Possibly the earliest among Dracut’s Colonial dwellings is the house at 1558 Broadway, with an
attributed date of 1728.>* The original section of the house has a saltbox form (a two-story
building with gable roof that extends down to the first floor level in the rear). Here the symmetry
typical of the style is not evident—suggesting that a single bay to the left was added later.
However, other New England houses of this era match the fenestration pattern of this house.

pdal e

-

Abraham Varnum House at 761 ammoth Rd., c. 1735.

The two-story Varnum-Richardson House, “Beaver Brook Farm,” at 761 Mammoth Road, was
constructed c. 1735 by Abraham Varnum.?? Justus Richardson, Sr., purchased the property for his
residence farm in 1841, and the Richardson family has retained the 2place ever since, creating one
of Dracut’s most successful vegetable and fruit farms around 1900.% It has a massive center
chimney, typical of early New England dwellings, and a one-and-a-half story rear ell. Dracut’s
18th century houses all appear to have undergone exterior alterations to varying degrees, with a
typical renovation being an updating of the design of the front door surround. This tendency to
alter the entry is illustrated by the semi-circular portico, topped by a balustrade and the sidelights
flanking the door, all of Colonial Revival vintage.

21 Massachusetts Historical Commission (MHC) Inventory Form No. DRA.53.
2. MHC Inventory Form No. DRA.3.
2 MHC Inventory Form No.. DRA.3; Paquet, History of Dracut, 117.
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Stephen Russell House at 363 Plasant St., built c. 1755.

One of the most striking in appearance of Dracut’s early houses, with its saltbox form clearly
visible from the public way, is the Russell House at 363 Pleasant Street, attributed to 1755.%*
Captain Stephen Russell, one of Dracut’s main military leaders during the Revolutionary War,
resided here. The comparatively small window openings, which perhaps have been enlarged on
some of the town’s other eighteenth century houses, provide further evidence of an early date for
its construction. This dwelling also has a massive center chimney that is one of the hallmarks of
early houses. As with other early houses such as the Varnum-Richardson House, the facade
fenestration (i.e., the pattern of the window and door openings) both expresses the interior layout
of the house and reflects the Classical architectural emphasis on symmetry and balance. The
center entrance and a second floor window are flanked by pairs of windows on both stories. When
first built, because of the large chimney mass taking up much of the volume at the center of the
building, a single window provided light to a small second floor hallway, closet or other small
space while pairs of windows were placed to light larger rooms at either end of the house. The
saltbox roof provided space for a first floor service area that housed the kitchen and food storage
rooms.

% MHC Inventory Form No. DRA.39. Some observers have suggested that this house dates to the seventeenth century
which appears unlikely to be the case. In recent historical works, Donat Paquet posits a construction date of c.
1680, while John Pendergast assigns a date of ¢. 1695. Paquet, History of Dracut, 138; John Pendergast, Dracut,
Images of America (Charleston: Arcadia Publishing, 1997), p. 34.
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The Captain Stephen Russell House at 430 Marsh Hill Rd., built 1773.

The second Stephen Russell Farmstead, at 430 Marsh Hill Road was built in 1773.2° It was once a
connected farm building of which a one-and-a-half story rear ell remains. The dwelling began as a
saltbox, but was raised to two-stories that allowed for its current deep floor plan. The location of
the center chimney forward of the roof ridgeline is a clue to this alteration and it looks to have
been rebuilt. The front entry also indicates an exterior renovation, as suggested by the presence of
the long sidelights, which became a popular architectural feature during the Federal Period.

Phineas Hall owned this farmstead in 1831.%

% Deed and historical research conducted by Marjorie Dunlap, property owner in 1950.
% p. Hildreth Parker, 1831 Varnum Survey of Town of Dracut (adapted copy), 1909. Annotated re-drafting of town

government survey, identifying owners of properties and showing locations of landmarks; on file at Massachusetts
State Archives; copy on file at Dracut Historical Society.
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Hill Rd.

Barn at 430 Marsh
The large barn on this property has seen a fair measure of renovation in its history, nothing
unusual for a New England barn. It is now an example of a gable-front bank barn but earlier,
according to the current owners, it was an element in a connected farm building that would have
represented a 19™-century enlargement of the c. 1773 house. The rear ell and back house sections
of the connected building maintain their connected configuration. It is likely that at the connected
stage the barn was positioned with its roof ridge aligned with that of the house ell, with the barn
offset to the east somewhat to create the classic connected building arrangement with sheltered
dooryard. Around 1920, in the process of creating an improved dairy barn, the owners apparently
moved the barn, turning it ninety degrees and setting it on the embankment to create the gable-
front bank barn. They also cut an additional ramp-access entrance, fitted with a sliding door, in
the center of the south wall, facilitating wagon access to the hay loft. In the same construction
episode, they built a hip-roof, embankment-sited milk house of rubble stone masonry against the
east end of the south wall, and a monitor-roof cow barn addition, larger than the barn’s original
section, extending to the north. Helen Dunlap asserts that a hyphen structure, now gone,
maintained the barn’s connectedness to the house, until the 1930s. The main entrance in the west
gable end is fitted with a sliding door and is surmounted by a transom. A stone wall extends from
the milk house to the public road and then along the latter, demarcating the farm yard from the
pasture and the farm from the public way.
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The Zachariah Coburn House at 438 New Boston Rd., c. 1775.
The two-story house with a one-and-a-half-story rear ell located at 438 New Boston Road has an
attributed construction date of 1775. Zachariah Colburn was the owner in 1831 according to the
map of that date. As with many early houses, the front facade, with its five bays and center
entrance faces south, the side yard, while the rear ell faces New Boston Road. The main section is
fitted with a pair of opposed off-center chimneys, apparently positioned on either side of the
interior central hallway. These chimneys possibly represent an alteration to the house. The porch
which extends along the rear ell looks to have been updated during the latter half of the 18"

century due to the scroll sawn braces employed. A skylight is a more recent alteration to the rear
ell.
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Barns

Barn at 583 Methuen St. (Kenwood)

The relatively simple three-bay, single-level English barn, the basic pattern for a barn that English
settlers brought to America and continued to erect for some three centuries, consisted of a
threshing floor flanked by a hay mow to one side and animal stable to the other. An example of
this early form of barn is located at 583 Methuen Street. This antique-seeming barn was perhaps
moved to the location, as none of the maps drafted up to 1889 depict a homestead here.
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C. Federal Period (1775-1830)

The Federal architectural style is represented among Dracut’s early farmhouses. They are readily
identified by being two stories in height with a gable roof and having a symmetrically organized
five-bay front facade with center entrance. The corner boards are quite light as is the window
trim, and the front door surround, often with sidelights, is attenuated and having surface
decoration. Windows are multi-paned six-over-six double-hung sash or, in more pretentious
houses, larger sash with twelve-over-nine or nine-over-six sash. In some cases the house began as
having only three bays on the front facade but were later expanded with an additional two bays
that would approximate a five-bay house—these latter examples can often be identified by the
slight deviation from absolute symmetry on the front facade.

he Phineas Trull House & connected farm buildings at 713 Broa‘dway‘Rd.,'c. 1780.

The main section of the Phineas Trull Farmstead, a connected farm building at 713 Broadway, has
an attributed date of 1780 and represents one of Dracut’s earliest representatives of the Federal
style.?” The presence of the front entry with sidelights, heavy door hood and ornate brackets, as
well as the two-over-two wooden window sash throughout the main house, suggest that the house
was renovated sometime in the last decades of the 19th century, perhaps in the same construction
episode that the greater connected building was assembled. Scholars of New England architecture
generally concur that the connected building or “continuous house” tradition did not develop until
around 1820, although farmstead construction or renovation in this arrangement remained a
common practice in much of northern New England through the rest of the 19th century.”®

The barn, a specimen of the gable-front type, is of considerable length. Differences in window
form and size between its east and west portions, as well as tell-tale sags of the roof ridge, indicate
that it was constructed in at least two phases. The front (west) entrance of the barn has a transom
overhead and is fitted with a sliding door. On the rear or south side of the barn (visible in aerial
views), a small, one-story shed-roof wing, probably built as a milk house, extends out from the
corner of the barn at the junction with the back house section of the connected building. Other
outbuildings include a story-and-a-half side-gable stable just east of the barn, and a relatively large
one-story cross-gable workshop or tenant house, clad in wood shingle and located by a small
grove of trees to the southwest of the house. A post and rail fence extends between the barn and
the stable and encloses a paddock area to the rear of the barn.

2" Owner on 1831 Map of Dracut.
% Hubka, Big House, Little House, 14-16; Thomas Durant Visser, Field Guide to New England Barns and Farm
Buildings (Lebanon, NH: University Press of New England, 1997), 107.
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In addition to being architecturally significant, this connected farm building has gained historical
significance due to John A. Ogonowski having grown up here. Ogonowski was a noted activist in
the field of sustainable agriculture and was the pilot of one of the planes that was hijacked on
September 11, 2001, and crashed into the World Trade Center in New York City.

The Oliver J. Colburn House at 1660 Lakeview Ave., ¢. 1790 (Collinsville).

Typically historic houses have undergone extensive renovations and enlargement as owners
sought to adapt the buildings to new or larger purposes. Local historians state that Oliver J.
Colburn House located at 1660 Lakeview Avenue was constructed c. 1790 as a one-story
dwelling, (perhaps originally similar in form to the farmhouse at 119 Methuen Road discussed
below).”® Around 1830, Phineas Colburn carried out an extensive renovation, enlarging the
structure to a front-gabled two- story building with a two-story rear ell. The Historical Society has
made its headquarters here since 1964.

Dracut’s extant Federal period houses also include a number that are less than two stories in
height. These smaller survivors are historically noteworthy because they are probably more
typical of the town’s dwellings overall in the period of their construction than are the two-story
specimens. The documentary record (in period sources such as tax assessments) indicates that
around 1800 the majority of New England’s houses were of one- or one-and-a-half story in height,
but larger historic houses have survived in disproportionate numbers.® The more substantial
dwellings of the higher class are typically the long-term survivors and this factor of “selective

2 MHC Inventory Form No. DRA.50.

%0 Edward A. Chappell, “Housing a Nation: The Transformation of Living Standards in Early America,” in Cary
Carson, Ronald Hoffman, and Peter J. Albert, eds., Of Consuming Interests: The Style of Life in the Eighteenth
Century (Charlottesville: The University Press of Virginia, 1994), pp. 194, 196, 206-209.
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survival” has made it seem that the region’s houses of two centuries ago were larger in general
than was actually the case.

The ¢. 1790 saltbox form of this 18" century homestead of the Asa Richardson family has been
substantially modified over the last two centuries.®* with an alteration of the roofline to a simple
gable, rebuilding of the center chimney, the addition of a large 1-story, 1-room deep rear ell,
replacement of early 6-over-6 sash windows in the late 19" century with 2-over-2 sash, and the
addition of a front gabled vestibule. The original portion of this house faces south, as was typical
at the time of its construction. Massive granite stones make up its foundation and the basement is
accessible from grade at the rear. This house has been made redundant with the construction of a
new dwelling immediately to its southwest side and may be demolished unless it can be moved
and another use found for it.

The historic barn on this farmstead is clearly not the original on the site (large granite blocks
southeast of the barn seem to indicate the location of the original). Rather, it is a 19™-century
example of the gable-front type that later received adaptations associated with the progressive
dairy barn form of the early 20" century. These renovations chiefly consisted of a patent-truss
gambrel roof (facilitating greater hay storage capacity) and an attached one-story shed-roofed milk
house. The end wall of the gambrel attic level is clad with wood shingles, while the first-story
wall of the barn and milk house has weatherboard cladding (wide overlapping boards). The front
(south) entrance is fitted with a sliding door under a pair of small transom windows. Other
outbuildings, all dating after 1965, include a large pole barn built in two stages, a garage-
equipment shed comprising at least three sections, and a greenhouse. Post and rail fencing
confines a series of animal paddocks located on the west side of the historic barn.

*! The current owner has the original deeds that show this property, which extended into what is now Pelham, NH,
was conveyed to Asa Richardson by 1787. The 1831 Map of Dracut also lists the owner of a tract of land north of
Marsh Hill Road as Asa Richardson.
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The James Richardson House at 119 Methuen Rd., ¢. 1800 (East Dracut).

A fairly typical one-story farm dwelling, the James Richardson House at 119 Methuen Road, said
to date to c. 1800, apparently became a latter-day connected farm building around the middle of
the twentieth century via construction of a relatively small hyphen structure connecting the house
to its companion barn.*? The split chimney suggests that it may have been built a bit later than
1800, as a large center chimney was the prevalent pattern in 1800—however the current split
chimney configuration could have been a later modification to provide for stove heat. The older
barn, now connected to the house, is of the traditional English barn type with central entry leading
into a threshing floor bay. This barn has an added wing. Other outbuildings on the property
include the main barn, which is a large post-1965 pole barn, and two sheds located on the
pastureland to the rear of the house. The edge of the public road is lined at intervals with low
stone wall and brief segments of post and rail fence.

Newer barn at 119 Methuen Rd.

%2 The farmstead is depicted on the 1831 Map of Dracut and keyed to #148, “James Richardson,” on the associated list
of owners.
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The Eliphalet Fox, Jr. House at 170 Sladen Street, ¢. 1808 (Navy Yard).

The Eliphalet Fox, Jr. House at 170 Sladen Street, built c. 1808, is another representative two-
story Federal house.*® The main section, one room in depth has a 5-bay front facade with center
entrance that faces south, and the side yard rather than Sladen Street. This symmetrical
arrangement of the front facade is telling of a central hallway plan with room on either side that
are each fitted with rear wall brick chimneys. The house is clad with narrow wood clapboard
siding and the windows are 6-over-6 double hung sash. The one-and-a-half story rear service ell
has been lengthened in modern times to provide garage space.
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The Lillian Moore House at 211 Pleasant St., ¢. 1800 (Navy Yard).

% MHC Inventory Form No. DRA.7.
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The Lillian Moore House at 211 Pleasant Street—a thoroughfare that may have evolved early on
as a location for the residences of craftsmen and tradesmen—is representative of small one-and-
one-half-story Federal dwelling, attributed as built c. 1800.% As with most older buildings, it has
been altered—a front wall dormer with shed roof has been added, a shed-roofed porch off its right
side has been enclosed, it has been resided, windows have been replaced and two skylights added.

3

he Id YeIIoweetinch.S-use”at 10 Arllngfon St.; iVStOI’IC photo tken c. 1884.

The Old Yellow Meeting House at 10 Arlington Street, built in 1794, (now the United Church of
Christ) followed the standard form for protestant meeting houses in New England with a simple
gable roof, three-bay front facade with center entrance on the long side of the building.*® The
photo above shows the building after several modifications, the earliest being a Greek Revival-
style trabeated entrance door surround with pediment and heavy pilasters. Later the entrance was
switched to the gable end and the interior reconfigured such that the center aisle ran the length of
the building. A bell-tower was added at the peak of the gable over the new entrance. An
Italianate-style hood over the new entrance, with its highly ornate brackets was also an interim

% John Pendergast, Images of America — Dracut (Charleston, SC: Arcadia Publishing, 1997) p. 36. Note that the
address has been changed from 265 Pleasant Street to 211 Pleasant. Although this book indicates the building
predates the Revolutionary War, its appearance does not necessarily support this claim. According to Pendergast
the house was moved in the 19" century to its present location from Greenmont Avenue.

% This simple meeting house form was not associated with any one particular denomination.
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addition. (This same hood is also found on numerous houses throughout the town, even quite
modest ones.) Much later the south-facing entrance gable end would receive a pediment, tower
with steeple atop, and two recessed hipped-roof side ells, a remodeling that would put its
architectural expression in the Classical Revival category.
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Today’s Old Yellow Meeting House.
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D. Rural Development & Early Industrial Period (1830-1870)

Farmsteads

Dracut’s connected farm buildings appear to date mostly to the middle decades of the nineteenth
century (about 1830 to 1870). Firm dates for the construction of the overall connected buildings
cannot be established without conducting intensive field and documentary research on these
properties. In many cases the farmer connected his buildings some years after his family had
established the homestead or built the dwelling that would later come to form the main house
section in the connected structure. The owner often moved existing frame buildings into place and
had supplementary components constructed as necessary. Thus the stylistic features of the main
house do not necessarily serve as a guide to the approximate date that the connected building was
established.

The 1. Coburn H_ouse at 194 Cr'osby Rd. c. 1840; arial view shéwing conhected bUiIdlngs.

By around 1840, the Greek Revival style, which would
become a popular architectural choice for their
dwelling among northern New England’s well-off
inhabitants, made its appearance in Dracut. An early
example in town, dating to c. 1840, is the main house

1 section of the connected farm building on the 1. Coburn
Homestead at 194 Crosby Road.* One-and-one-half
stories in height and just a single room in depth, this
relatively small original house of side gable form
features typical Greek Revival features including a
front entry with transom and sidelights, corner pilasters,
and molded window caps. The connected farm buildings illustrate that the owner assembled them

% An attributed date of 1830 is not confirmed by a depiction on the 1831 map of Dracut; it does appear among other
Coburn properties on the 1856 map, labeled “I. Coburn” (first initial hard to decipher). However, the style of the
house corresponds to the period when Greek Revival was prevalent.
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using at least some extant buildings. 1. Coburn owned this farmstead in 1856, 1875, and 1889.
The proportions in the relationship of the two story rear ell or “little house” to the story-and-a-half
main house or so-called “big house” are somewhat awkward, with the ridge peak at the east end of
the ell plainly visible above the main house roof ridge when viewed from the front (or east). The
ell is actually a fairly large building section in general, noticeably larger than the main house,
which is the original section of the building. The small back house section is of irregular shape,
featuring a canted south wall that enables this section to contain the passage to the barn. This
configuration suggests that at least the back house (and possibly the ell or part of it) was built to
connect a preexisting barn to the house. The barn is an example of the gable-front barn type with a
wide transom over the tall swinging double doors on the front of the building. An added lean-to on
the south side extends partway along the wall from the front (or east) end. A metal silo stands
near the southwest corner of the barn.
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The J. Coburn House at 410 New Boston Rd., c. 1840.

Dracut’s Greek Revival-style houses in this period include modest-scale one and one-and-a-half-
story examples that represent adaptations of the persistent regional house type—the Cape Cod.
The “Cape” had evolved during the early eighteenth century as a widespread dwelling plan choice
of New Englanders and continued as a favored type of smaller house through the successive cycles
of architectural style, with the story-and-a-half variant increasingly common (as opposed to the
earlier one-story form).3” One of these is the J. Coburn House, the front section of one of the
town’s smaller-scale connected farm buildings, built c. 1840 and located at 410 New Boston
Road.® Its substantial front door surround displays the architrave that was a hallmark of Greek
Revival. Two interior brick chimneys indicate the placement of fireplaces between the front and
back rooms. Construction of Aurelie Drive in the 20" century has made this property a corner lot,
requiring a retaining wall between the buildings and the roadway. This cut off its original access
to the connected barn along the left side of the house (the door yard side) and necessitated creating

" Henry Glassie, Pattern in the Material Folk Culture of the Eastern United States (Philadelphia: University of
Pennsylvania Press, 1968), 128-131; Allen Gowans, The Comfortable House: North American Suburban
Architecture 1890-1930 (Cambridge: The MIT Press, 1986), 140; James L. Garvin, A Building History of Northern
New England (Hanover: University Press of New England, 2001), p. 97, 114-116).

% Labeled “J. Colburn” on the 1856 Map of Dracut.
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a new access to the right of the house. A stone retaining wall along the newer driveway
emphasizes the rather unnatural elevation of the house. The house has been resided and windows
have been replaced. A cross-gabled rear ell, which may originally have had a porch sheltering
service entrance and has since been enclosed, connects the house to the older style English side
gable barn. The barn has remodeled as dwelling space in recent years. Despite these
modifications, the connected building conveys its historical origins and contributes to the historic
character of the town.

The Richardson Farmstead at 56 Fox Ave., c. 1850.

Another representative example of the Greek Revival style in a farm dwelling, this time a fairly
large house two- story in height and two rooms in depth, is the Richardson Farmstead at 56 Fox
Avenue, built c. 1850.% The gable-roofed dwelling features several details of the style—a door
surround with sidelights and capped by stacked moldings, a wide cornice frieze, and substantial
corner pilasters. The center entrance and symmetrical fenestration reveals a center hallway plan
and the two windows on the side facades indicate the house is two rooms deep. Narrow wood
clapboard siding, 6-over-6 double hung sash windows, and authentic shutters are all emblematic of
early New England buildings. This property, a pre-suburban historic remnant set amidst a
suburban residential area, retains very little of its original farmstead character. In recent decades,
the house has received the addition of a barn-like garage wing evidently intended to convey the
feeling of a connected farm building.

% MHC Inventory Form no. DRA.37. Owner is identified as Richardson on the 1856 map.
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The M. Colburn House at 330 Colburn Ave., c. 1850 (.

The M. Colburn Farmhouse at 330 Colburn Avenue, built c. 1850, is unusual among historic
Dracut houses for being constructed of stone masonry, as almost all the dwellings are wood
framed.”® Despite having a side gable form and a 5-bay front facade with center entrance, this
house does not fit neatly into a particular style category. Two rear-wall chimneys (not visible
from this view) attest to an early date, as do the 6-over-6 windows and single room depth.
Lightly-toned cut granite used for trim elements, including window and door lintels and nearly
uniform quoins at the corners, contrasts with the darker random-sized rough stonework of the
walls. A large octagonal wooden cupola mounted on the center of the roof ridge at one time has
since been removed. In addition, the barn or large garage that formerly stood to the rear of the
house collapsed a few years ago (as visible in aerial photos) and has now been removed. No
aspect of the historic farmstead setting, such as outbuildings or fencing, remains.

“0 pendergast, Dracut, p. 39, identifies Lowell W. Colburn as the owner of this residence. However, the architectural
character reveals an earlier construction date and the 1856 map depicts a homestead here owned by “M. Coburn.”
The 1875 map depicts a homestead at this location that is owned by L. W. Colburn.
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The William F. and Alvina Osgood Farmstead at 746 Mammoth Rd., ¢. 1850

A particularly impressive representation of the Greek Revival style is the William F. and Alvina
Osgood Farmstead located at 746 Mammoth Road, built c. 1850. As a part of a connected
building, the main house is laid out with a T-shape footprint, a variant of the type of floor plan
known as cross-wing or cross-gable. It is replete with Greek Revival details such as a temple front
with pedimented gable, cornice embellishment of dentils and wide frieze, molded window caps
also with dentils, paneled corner pilasters, and front door surround with transom and sidelights.

The historic barn is an example of the gable-front type that is placed with its roof ridge aligned
ninety degrees to the front gable ridgeline of the house and back house. Thus the barn doors are
oriented away from the overall connected building. This configuration is at variance with most
Dracut connected farm buildings, which have a front gable barn aligned with its ridge parallel to
the connected building’s ridgeline and its barn doors facing the dooryard. The Osgood barn is
clad in wood shingle, diverging from the clapboard covering of the big house and backhouse. The
barn doors are sliding double doors surmounted by transoms holding two rows of panes. A large
horse barn of post-1965 date stands a hundred or so yards to the south of the house. The property
currently has numerous horse paddocks located to the west and southwest of the house.
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The Aaron C. and Arminda Osgood Farmhouse at 737 Mammoth Road is a later and intact
specimen of the Greek Revival style, constructed c. 1860.** Another connected farm building, it is
located just across the street from the William and Alvina Osgood Farmhouse. The main house
has an L-shaped footprint reflecting its upright-and-wing plan. Substantial, paneled corner
pilasters together with the molded cornices and eave returns emphasize its classical antecedents.
The front entrance is in the front gable end that parallels the roadway; the door surround
incorporates a later ornamentation of a hood supported by elaborately carved brackets. A
secondary front entrance on the front of the recessed wing, has a simple surround that matches the
windows. The 2-over-2 double hung sash windows are embellished with cornices. The

1 Property labeled “A. C. Osgood” on the 1856 map of Dracut.
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impressively intact porch with hipped roof and hefty turned posts and balusters wraps around the
inside corner of the L-shaped house. Remarkably, the entire connected building complex retains
its wood clapboard siding.

The barn represents the gable-front bank barn type; its entrance, facing west, is fitted with
swinging double doors with a transom. The property, no longer an active farmstead, is lined at
roadside with a recently constructed board fence with stone piers flanking the driveway entrance.

N. Fox Farmhouse at 238 Fox Ave., ¢. 1860 (Dracut Center).

There are a number of examples of the Second Empire style in Dracut, which is generally
characterized by the presence of the distinctive mansard roof. The N. Fox Farmhouse at 238 Fox
Avenue dates to c. 1860 and thus is an early example of the style.** This house presents many
intact details, including massive paneled corner pilasters, paired Roman-arched windows on the
first-story front facade, scroll sawn brackets at the cornice as well as smaller double brackets
supporting window cornices, simple brackets under the sills, and foliated ornamentation on the
front porch trim. A porch extending across the front of the recessed ell off the right side has an
intact railing and scroll sawn braces with pendants flanking its pillars. Another notable feature of
this dwelling is the extremely large granite blocks used for its foundation that attests to its early
construction date.

Although the currently 13-acre property remains in agricultural use, home to a retail vegetable
gardening operation, it retains little of its historic farmstead character, with no historic
outbuildings or fences present on this parcel. The outbuildings, all built later than 1965, include a
farm stand store building, a greenhouse, an equipment shed, and a toolshed. The two-acre parcel

“2 Depicted on the 1875 map of Dracut and labeled “N. Fox.”
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located across the street, at 241 Fox Avenue, contains two brick buildings that likely were
historically associated with the N. Fox House. The larger one is a two-story house built ¢. 1925
has a jerkin head (clipped-gable) roof that may have been a tenant or other secondary dwelling for
the farmstead. The smaller one-story outbuilding that may have been a garage, interestingly
enough has its access door facing the interior of the property. It has been adapted to storage use
(aerials show the former driveway to now be lawn).

The M. Hyland House at835 Mammoth Road C. 1870

The M. Hyland House at 835 Mammoth Road, built c. 1870, is a relatively spacious example of
the Colonial or Cape Cod form.*®* Although it has been extensively remodeled into a Colonial
Revival style, it still presents the elegant five-bay facade with center entrance original to the
dwelling. Full-length sidelights remain intact from the original door surround. Changes to the
building include the addition of a gable-roofed portico supported by slender columns, residing,
replacement of windows, faux window blinds, the addition of the exposed brick end wall chimney
and a small gable-roofed left side ell. The wide shed-roofed dormer is probably not original. Still,
the placement of the house close to Mammoth Road and its overall form speak to its longevity.

“* Owner is identified as M. Hyland on the 1875 map.
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The Richardson Farmstead at 600 Marsh Hill Rd, c. 1870 —view of west facade.

The Richardson Homestead at 600 Marsh Hill Road. W. M. Richardson evidently owned this
farm in 1875, in addition to an older farmstead located just across Richardson Road to the west,
perhaps part of the same large tract.

The barn is an example of the gable-front barn type, its front (south) entrance fitted with swinging
hinged double doors and surmounted by a transom. Other outbuildings include four sheds of
varying size, probably built in the latter half of the 20" century and located to northeast from the
barn. Together with windbreak trees and shrubbery, the various outbuildings define a farmyard or
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court area. Post and rail fencing divides the rest of the property into a series of pastures with
interspersed clusters of mature hardwood trees; a pond occupies much of the pasture at the front of
the property.

Industrial Properties & Associated Employee (Tenant) Housing

Two prominent textile mills both began in the 1840s. The earlier one, located on the Beaver
Brook at Pleasant Street in an area known as the Navy Yard, was Merrimac Woolen Mills. It was
established on an existing mill site in 1840 as the Baldwin Woolen Co. as evidenced by the stone
portions of the complex. By 1856 a small village had arisen in the immediate neighborhood of
this mill consisting of millworkers” dwellings and a few service businesses. New owners acquired
the mill in 1858, organizing as the Merrimac Woolen Co., and built the major brick building in
1862. By 1865, Merrimac was producing “cassimere” woolen cloth and employing 250 people.
The J.P. Stevens Company acquired the plant in the early twentieth century and expanded the
complex.** In the latter part of the 20" century the property was adapted for use by a variety of
commercial tenants, which are housed there today.

Views of the Merrimac Woolen Mills complex, located at 76 Pleasant Street. ”1“'he major 1862
brick building is to the right, the apparently earlier stone buildings (c. 1840s) are to the left.

The J.P. Stevens Company evidently constructed this later brick mill building, situated behind (to
the north) of the 1862 building.

*“ Pendergast, Dracut, p. 79.
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A house at 38 Brookside Street, a cul-de-sac street extending off Lakeview Avenue, situated about
500 feet from the mill buildings, may represent a surviving employee dwelling built by the
Baldwin Woolen Co. Thought to date to c. 1850, the double house or duplex form of this one-
and-a-half story, side gable house suggests that it was built to serve as a rental property. It may be
the lone survivor where formerly there were several such dwellings.*

** 1856 Map of Dracut.
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Commercial Properties

145 Pleasant St., c. 1836 (Navy Yard)

An early commercial building dating to c. 1836 that alteration has disguised as to its original
appearance is located at 145 Pleasant Street. Historic photographs testify that the shape of this
frame building has been essentially unchanged for well over a century, A blacksmith named
Wilson is said to have constructed this building to house his forge business, then it was converted
to a small general store in the late nineteenth century operated in 1892 Hodge & Stevens,
succeeded by Stevens & Bolton and finally Bolton & Chitty.*® The general store closed in 1928
but successive retail or service businesses have occupied the premises ever since. At some point
in the twentieth century the owners had the frame building encased in brick masonry and the
storefront windows altered. It now houses A’s Tux Formal Center.

¢ MHC Inventory Form No. DRA.52; Donat H. Paquet, The Photographic History of Dracut, Massachusetts (Dracut:
Dracut Historical Society, Inc., 1982), p. 139; John Pendergast, Dracut—Images of America (Charleston: Arcadia
Publishing, 1997), p. 35.
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E. Late Industrial — Early Suburbanization Period (1870-1900)

The Second Empire, Italianate and Gothic Revival styles persisted into the late 19" century, and in
some instances even into the early 20™ century. The Classical Revival became popular after the
Civil War and also continued to find expression in the 20" century. Examples of each of these
styles can be found in Dracut.

The T. Kinan House at 122 Old Parker Rd., c. 1870

The T. Kinan House at 122 Old Parker Road, constructed c. 1870 is a one-story example of the
Second Empire style.*’ The house section of the small cottage-scale L-shaped connected farm
building has a mansard roof with gable-roofed dormers, a hallmark of the style. The hood over the
door on the roadside of the house, with its ornate brackets, is identical to many others throughout
the town and region used on a variety of picturesque-style buildings. The one-story rear ell that
connects the house to the barn has been modified with paired oriels and a tuck-under garage. The
house has been resided with vinyl clapboard and the windows replaced. A small brick center
chimney is probably original; however the exposed brick front wall chimney has been added, as
has the side porch.

“" Labeled T. Kinen on the 1875 and 1889 maps of Dracut, although the Assessor’s date of 1885 could be correct
since the Second Empire style remained current through that date, assuming this building replaced or was a
remodeling of an earlier one. The MHC Inventory Form no. DRA.21 mistakenly lists the property at 437 Old
Parker Rd. (sic) as T. Kinan, but a close review of the historic maps showed a building labeled J. M Barrow on the
1856 map; no building depicted on the 1875 map, and an unlabeled building is depicted on the 1889 map.
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A relatively small example of an English barn is placed at a right angle to the east end of the
house. The two major sections are joined via a one-story gable-roof section that is placed so as to
fill the angle between the two other sections and that apparently combines the functions of the
little house (or ell) and the back house. This connecting section may have been built since World
War Il or it may represent a rebuilding of an earlier structure, as it has a gently pitched roof and
also contains a tucked-under garage entered on the front (south) side. The dooryard area in this
example occupies the inside corner of the “L,” hence it lies behind the big house and in front of
the barn. If not a historic connected building dating to the form’s classic period (the 19" century),
this property represents an interesting 20™-century adaptation of this traditional building type. The
barn is clad in weatherboard (wide overlapping boards). The barn was adapted to garage use at
some date, with installation of sash windows, a pass-through (pedestrian) doorway, and a paneled
garage door in the barn entrance. A picket fence borders the public road.

-

The M. Fox Farm at 324 Broadway Rd., c. 1870 view of barn, below, (Dracut Center).

The Italianate style house, which enjoyed great popularity on a national basis, seems not to have
had much impact in Dracut. There is, however, an impressive, fully developed example of an
Italianate Villa (a subset within the overall stylistic group) located at 324 Broadway. This grand
farmstead residence, one of Dracut’s most impressive historic buildings, was built for M. Fox c.
1876.% It incorporates a three-story square tower with paired Roman-arch windows and other
Italianate elements such as a two-story bay window flanked by front porches with chamfered
pillars and paired brackets at its eaves. Three interior brick chimneys rise out of the moderately

“8 The 1875 map identifies M. Fox, possibly Milton Fox, as the owner of a homestead at this location.
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pitched hipped roof that has a unique decoratively pierced molding in its cornice. The house
retains its original cladding of narrow wood clapboard with wood quoining at the corners, as well
as its original 2-over-2 sashes and double front door.

e

Barn at the M. Fox Farm at 324 Broadway Rd., (Dracut Center. o

The barn is an example of the gable-front bank barn type. The barn door has an interior-hung
sliding door, with a two-light transom above and is topped by a pyramidal hipped roof cupola. An
attached shed-roof milk house is located against the north side of the building at its west end. The
fact that the exposed south basement wall of the bank barn is built of concrete block, which wasn’t
a material available before the early 20" century, raises the possibility that this is a former non-
bank gable-front barn and has been moved or altered. It could even have once been connected to
the elegant mansion house in the manner of other area connected farm buildings. The bank barn
form was generally associated with dairyin% in New England and the milk house wing, required
under new dairy regulations in the early 20" century, could be associated with increased dairy
activity on this farm. In addition, the early 20" century was the key period for the disassembling
of connected farm buildings in the face of rising insurance costs. (The two-bay garage wing off
the right rear corner of the house is a relatively late addition.) Aerial photos show that a small ell
section, obscured from roadside view by the garage wing extends northward from the east end of
the house; this section too could have been an element connecting the house to the barn.
America’s historic farmsteads, especially from the Victorian period, often present considerable
qualities of domestic elegance juxtaposed against plainer agricultural work spaces. Other
outbuildings on the property include a hipped-roof single-bay garage located south of the barn and
an equipment shed north of the barn. The farmstead is currently in a state of disuse and the
mansion is vacant.
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-

The Joseph Treadwell-Joshua Colburn House at 227 Colburn Ave., c. 1870.

The Joseph Treadwell-Joshua Colburn House, a former farm dwelling located at 227 Colburn
Avenue, is an example of the Classical Revival style. Although this house is said to date to 1760,
the current architectural character reflects a Classical Revival taste and a remodeling date of c.
1870.% The symmetrically organized front facade with center entrance indicates a center-hallway
plan and the side elevations reveal that the house was two-rooms deep. This denoted the
substantial rural house that was owned by better off farmers and others in the region. Faceted bay
windows flanking the front entrance, the door surround with multi-light transom and sidelights,
molded cornice, eave returns, slim corner boards are all features used in the Classical Revival
style. Like so many other Dracut buildings of all types, there is a substantial hood over the front
door having ornate brackets with pendants, which gives it an Italianate flavor. The house retains
its original wood clapboard siding and the windows also appear to be intact with 6-over-6 double
hung sash used on the second floor front facade and sides. (The window blinds are faux.) A one-
story recessed right side ell, with gable roof, may also be original as a service/kitchen wing. No
barn remains, only a one-story outbuilding (possibly a garage) behind the house and a small shed
behind it comprise other buildings on the property.

* MHC Inventory Form no. DRA.41 dates the property to 1760 & states house was "originally a saltbox, raised & 1st
fl. remodeled in 1877, reoriented from south facing to west facing at that time, interior substantiates early date."
However, it is not depicted on 1831 or 1856 maps. The house is depicted on 1875 map and a construction date after
1856 comports w/architectural character. The 1889 Map of Dracut places the house on other side of Colburn Ave
from its actual location.
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The first Nathaniel Peabody Farmhouse reflects the Gothic Revival style prevalent throughout
Dracut and the region in the last half of the 19" century. It likely replaced an earlier farmhouse
since the farmstead is depicted on the 1831 map of Dracut. Its five-bay front facade with center
entrance follows the form of much earlier Federal buildings, but the scroll sawn decorations, stick-
work bracing of the front door hood, the recessed two-story left side ell with front porch,
placement of the small brick chimneys, all look to have been built simultaneously; thus the
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estimated date of 1870. The barn at 256 Marsh Hill Road represents the gable-front bank barn
type. A pair of ventilators is fitted on the roof ridge. A relatively large shed-roof milk house is
located against the west end of the barn, with another addition, a long narrow shed possibly built
as a feeding shed, to the north of the milk house. The cladding on this barn, including vertical
barn board siding on at least one lengthwise wall and shingle on at least the west gable, diverges
from the horizontal clapboard or weatherboard that is the more typical siding for Dracut barns,
suggesting that this barn may be a relatively late example of its type, possibly of c. 1900 date. A
ceramic-tile silo is attached at the southwest corner of the barn. The other outbuilding on the
property, visible in aerial photos, is apparently a fully enclosed, side-gable equipment shed-
workshop, probably built in the latter half of the 20" century. It appears that the farmstead is no
longer active, except perhaps for hay production.

1327 Bridge St., c. 1875 (Dracut Center)

The Granville Coburn House at 1327 Bridge Street, built c. 1875, is another example of the
Italianate style. It has the double bracketed eaves that are a hallmark of the style, along with a
faceted two-story bay window to the right of a double entrance door. Tall narrow windows came
into vogue with the Gothic Revival style and were used here to emphasize the verticality of the
building. Porch pillars are chamfered, another characteristic shared by the Gothic Revival and
Italianate styles. Once this was a connected building, attesting to its age, though the barn/carriage
house has been fairly recently demolished.
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Aerial V|eW & current of the Edward E. and Phebe W. Rlchardson Farmstead at 114 Broadway Rd.
(Dracut Center).

A more modest adaptation of the Italianate style is exemplified by the Edward E. and Phebe W.
Richardson House at 114 Broadway Road.*® The date of the original farmstead is said to be 1795,
and while the rear portion of the dwelling may well indeed be this old (see aerial photo, above) the
front portion of the house clearly reflects the late 19" century Italianate taste with its 2-story front
gable form ornamented with double bracketed eaves. A second floor balcony has been enclosed,
the front porch below rebuilt, and the property looks to be vacant and possibly threatened due to
neglect.

The barn is an example of the gable-front type. It has received a series of modifications,
beginning in the early 20" century, for improved functioning as a dairy barn. A shed-roof milk
house has been attached to the south side flush with the front facade, a recessed concrete-block
cow barn wing (probably mid-20"-century) has been added that extends to the north, and two
ventilators have been installed on the roof ridge. It is also possible that this fairly long barn has
been extended in length at some point. Two metal silos stand by the barn: one at its left rear
(southwest) corner, the other at its right front (northeast) corner. There is also a detached
equipment shed located to the north of the barn and northwest of the house, situated so as to form
a farmyard court between the buildings. The complex now represents a farmstead remnant,
surrounded by commercial, residential and park developments built in the past few decades.

%0 The earliest depiction of this farmstead appears on the 1856 Map of Dracut, labeled “Richardson.” The 1875 and
1889 maps label the property “E. E. Richardson.” The 1880 Federal Census lists Edward E. Richardson, a farmer
living in Dracut with wife, Phebe W., daughter Mary L. and one boarder.
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The Hubbard House at 419 Aiken Ave., 1876 (Dracut Center).

The Second Empire style has representatives among Dracut’s connected buildings. The Hubbard
House is a non-farm connected building located at 419 Aiken Avenue that was constructed in
1876.>* The one-story house has a mansard roof with dormers, the primary characteristic of the
Second Empire style. The center dormer on the front facade, aligned above the center entrance,
has paired window sash under a distinctive Tudor arched roof, while the other dormers have,
round arched roofs. Double entrance doors with transom is typical of this style, as is the massive
hood supported by ornately carved brackets with pendants that shelters them. Alterations to the
complex include residing, replacement of windows, and the addition of the enclosed gallery side
porch with boxy dormer above. The attached carriage house also displays a mansard roof and
matches the house section in architectural details.

> The owner of this property is identified as Hubbard on the 1875 map, J. G. Hubbard on the 1889 map. George H.
Walker & Co., Atlas of Middlesex County, Massachusetts (Boston: George H. Walker & Co., 1889), Dracut map on
file at Dracut Historical Society.
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The Nathaniel Peabody Farm (2" at 312 Marsh Hill Rd., c. 1880. View of the connected barn at 312 Marsh
Hill Rd. below

The Nathaniel Peabody Farm at 312 Marsh Hill Road, built c¢. 1880, another of Dracut’s connected
farm buildings. The house is a fairly large-scale, side gable specimen of the Classical Revival
style built on a center-hallway plan of two room depth.>* It has a frieze and corner pilasters of
identical dimensions, eave returns, round-arched attic windows and a large front entry hood
supported by elaborately carved brackets. The house is intact with narrow wood clapboard siding
and 2-over-2 double hung sash. The large front gable barn appears to be contemporary with the
house and the overall building complex expresses a quality of stylistic similarity, suggesting that
farmer Peabody created the overall structure in a single building phase. The manner in which the
level of ornamentation decreases as one progresses from main house to barn is typical of the form.

The barn is a quite long example of the gable-
front type. The sheer size of the building,
along with sags in the roofline, indicates it was
enlarged at some date. The double swing barn
doors, on the west facade, have paired inset
diamond panels, one over the other, and a
transom above. There are no other
outbuildings present on the property and it
appears that the farm operation is limited to
hay production. The roadside is lined with

post and rail fence.

%2 Although the Assessor’s records list the date of this house as 1830, and the farmstead is depicted on the 1831 map
of Dracut, the architectural style attests to a much later construction date of c¢. 1880. The 1831 map labels the
property “Nath’l Peabody” and “N. Peabody” on the 1856 and 1875 maps. The 1875 map lists 2 Peabody
farmsteads adjacent to each other. The other, earlier farm building is located at 256 Marsh Hill Road. This second
farmstead must have been rebuilt to create the extant connected building arrangement, a fairly common occurrence
in the region in the nineteenth century.

prepared by Larson Fisher Associates Inc. with Philip Pendleton Page 11-52 of 102



PART TWO: Reconnaissance Survey of the Town of Dracut’s Historic Resources

The Gothic Revival style for residential architecture was introduced to the United States in the
1850s by architect Calvert Vaux of London, who began working with the famous landscape
architect Andrew Jackson Downing of Newburgh, New York, in that state’s Hudson Valley. With
the publishing of his book, Villas & Cottages, in 1857 this Picturesque style became a favorite
throughout the nation, particularly during the late Victorian era. A prominent aspect of Gothic
Revival was its emphasis on a steeply pitched gable roof featured on the front of the building.
While initially loaded with ornate finishes, the style was simplified over time so that it could be
readily reproduced to meet the growing demand for this aesthetic, which would last into the early
years of the 20" century. Even so, it generally maintained a very vertical aspect, with the steeply
pitch roofs, tall narrow windows, and board and batten siding. Although none of the “high style”
examples of Gothic Revival were documented in Dracut, there are numerous examples of its
influence on the vernacular architecture.

gil “““ S n R DT
The Sophia and Margaret Fox House at 136 Sladen St., 1863 (Navy Yard).

An early example of how the Gothic Revival style was adapted in Dracut (as well as the region as
a whole) is the Misses Fox House at 136 Sladen Street. It has been recorded as having been built
in 1863, which is possible given the verticality of the style it displays.>® The front gable form with
the two-story box bays (one on each side) with its tall narrow windows may have been the model

%% The house does not appear on the 1856 Map of Dracut. The 1875 Map labels this property as “Miss Fox” while the
1889 labels it “Misses Fox.” Both the 1870 and 1880 Federal Censuses list Sophia and Margaret T. Fox (ages 64
and 55 in 1870) living here, with a “Henry Goodhue” listed on the same page in 1880, which corresponds to the
Goodhue that donated his property for the nearby Goodhue School Building. The 1831 lists both Zachariah and
John Goodhue on this side of Sladen Street, which suggests that the Fox dwelling was built on the John Goodhue
lot.
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for many other Dracut buildings that followed. The small scroll sawn braces at the corners of the
roof eaves are a typical architectural ornament, while the porches with their spindled friezes could
be a late 19" century remodeling in a more Queen Anne taste.

194 Sladen St., ¢. 1890 (Navy Yard).

An example of the Gothic Revival taste as it became more prevalent throughout the area is the
connected building at 194 Sladen Street on the northwest corner of its intersection with Waldo
Street. It was built c. 1890 and is notable for its very large granite foundation stones. The two-
story side bay contrasts with that of its neighbor at 136 Sladen Street—it has been made wider and
the corners of the first floor are angled to create a faceted bay window below the box bay of the
second floor. Below the second floor overhangs are decorative scroll sawn valances with a
pendant at the corner. Tall narrow paired windows in this bay reveal the Gothic Revival
precedence it is following. In the rest of the dwelling the windows are a bit wider, indicating the
advancement in the technology of glass production that allowed for larger panes. (The windows
on this house have been replaced—originally they would have had 2-over-2 sash). Authentic
window blinds are in evidence suggesting the growing influence of the Colonial Revival style in
the last decades of the 19" century. The front porch appears to be a later addition, which also
reflects the Colonial Revival taste.

The carriage house section of this connected building matches the one-and-a-half-stories of the
house. Its roof is a cross-gable to that of the overall complex, repeating the cross-gabled roofs of
the side ell/bay and a dormer over the side porch. Driveway access is via Waldo Street to the
south, while the main house faces east onto Sladen Street. The swinging double barn doors in this
section are located to the east on the carriage house’s south wall. A loft door (for hay delivery) is
located above them . Other openings on the front include a single window on the first story and
two windows on the garret or loft. The presence of a corbeled chimney toward the rear of this
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section, as well as three second-story windows (with molded caps on their frames) on the rear
wall, suggest that it originally housed a servant’s apartment in addition to the carriage, horse and
feed storage areas. However, the presence on this section of numerous one-over-one windows of
recent fabrication similar to those on the other sections, including on the west side wall of the
carriage house, raises the question as to what extent this section has been altered, since the
fenestration does not seem to allow for horse stall areas. The building has of course been
renovated for completely residential use (without housing horses). This example of a village
connected building, built in the closing stage of the historic connected building form, expresses
the functional difference from the farm version. The back house section, designed for wood
storage and rough work, may simply be absent, or it may have been housed in reduced form in the
small lean-to built against the rear of the carriage house. The building’s configuration lacks the
offset or L-shaped positioning of the barn that would have provided the sheltered dooryard that
had an important role in connected farm buildings.
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14 Green St., c. 1890 (Dracut Center). 310-312 Humphrey St., c. 1890 (Dracut Center).

Many other fine examples of this house type can be found in Dracut, such as the dwellings at 14
Green Street and 310-312 Humphrey Street, both built about the same time as 194 Sladen Street.
They also feature faceted bays on the lower part of side ells, a detail frequently found in both
Gothic Revival and Queen Anne-style houses in late 19" century. The front entrance porch on
310 Humphrey Street has turned posts, while those on 14 Green are Doric Columns, which
together with the eave returns give it a Classical Revival flavor. The windows on both houses
have molded lintels. The original narrow wood clapboard siding and corner boards has been
retained on the 310 Humphrey house, while a small lean-to has been added off its rear with a
screened-in porch extending from it. A carriage barn is located behind the house, which is a
stylistic match to the house. The house at 14 Green St. has added a 1-story lean-to off its left side,
behind the 2-story bay.

In the last decade of the 19" century and into the early 20" century, the 1%-story single family
dwelling began to be virtually mass produced, not only in Dracut but throughout the region.* It
was a house form well suited to urban lots that were relatively deep but with narrow street
frontages. Many of these dwellings had a two-bay front facade with 1-story box or faceted bay on
one side of the front facade with a roof that extended over the entrance to create a small front
porch. The examples below demonstrate that personal preferences in architectural features could
be easily applied—from simplified Gothic Revival details such as scroll sawn brackets, gable peak

> The survey of the Pawtucketville neighborhood in Lowell (once a part of Dracut) by Larson Fisher Associates, Inc.
in 2007 revealed hundreds of this house form with identical decorative features.
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decoration and porch details, to more Classical Revival elements such as eave returns. Italianate
ornamentation such as double bracketed eaves and entrance hoods with elaborately carved support
brackets were commonly used as well. Shutters or window blinds, usually a Colonial Revival
detail, were added to all stylistic versions of the form.

7 Levie A. (Navy Yard).

s

187 Pleasant St. (Navy Yar 65 Homefield Ave. (Navy Yard).

Many of these houses were extended with rear ells over the years, some had dormers added to
create roomier upper floors. At some point this form became the model for millworker housing—
which may have been tenant housing (owned by the mills) or speculative housing constructed for
rental by independent property owners in the town.

Built 35 years after the Miss Foxes’ house on Slade Street, the house at 21 Amesbury Street,
below, displays a remarkable resemblance to its predecessor. The verticality remains, as does the
steeply pitched front gable roof, and the scroll sawn brackets at the eave ends and eave returns.
Like the house at 194 Slade Street the two-story side bay has been made wider and now has the
corners of the first floor angled to create a faceted bay window below the box bay of the second
floor. In addition the front corners of the house similarly angled back allowing the corner of the
second floor to overhang the first. Below each of these second floor overhangs is a decorative
scroll sawn valance with pendant. This house has had its windows replaced, though it has retained
its authentic window blinds. Arcaded porches with incised decorative screens and the ornate
scroll sawn verge board in the gable peaks are features of Gothic Revival that would continue to
be favored and used in Queen Anne style buildings.

prepared by Larson Fisher Associates Inc. with Philip Pendleton Page 11-56 of 102



PART TWO: Reconnaissance Survey of the Town of Dracut’s Historic Resources

\\

N

IRARNNNENNE

i

!

21 Amesbury St., built 1897 (Kenwood).

119 Vermont Ave., c. 1890 (Dracut Center).

One of Dracut’s very few Queen Anne style dwellings is located at 119 Vermont Avenue and
dates to c. 1890. It has the classic asymmetrical form with a three-story octagonal tower
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encompassed by a two-story porch. The porch features scroll sawn braces at the chamfered pillars
(typically a Gothic Revival detail). The roof is hipped with projecting front and right side gabled
ells into which the three-sided porch ties. A variety of cladding is typical for Queen Anne houses
and this one has sawtooth wood shingles in the gable peaks and on the third story of the tower;
while it appears that the first and second floors have been resided with asbestos shingles (regular
and diamond-shaped, respectively), probably in the 1930s. A few early 2-over-2 windows are
intact, though most of the windows have been replaced. A 1%2--story cross-gabled carriage barn
occupies the rear yard.

Home builders in the area in the late 19™ century often mixed architectural styles and incorporated
aspects of newly emerging tastes to achieve some design distinction while still relying on rather
standard forms. The results may be termed “transitional” with the blending of Queen Anne and
Gothic Revival styles, as illustrated by the c. 1895 house at 18 Delbert Street. Here the 2-story
front gable form with a 2-story faceted bay window added to its front pulls it toward Queen Anne,
as do the pent roofs that introduce a Colonial Revival element common to the latter style.

18 Delbert St., c. 1895 (Dracut Center) 695 Hildreth St., c. 1900 (Dracut Center)

The house at 695 Hildreth Street, built c. 1900, uses a Colonial Revival form that is tweaked with
a flattened hipped roof, but adheres to a symmetrically organized front facade with center
entrance. The side porch, however, throws off the symmetry and its scroll sawn braces are typical
of the Gothic Revival and Queen Anne styles.

Industrial Properties & Associated Tenant Housing

The extant industrial buildings have been renovated to varying degrees, adapted for a wide variety
of residential, commercial, office, and light industrial purposes. In addition to the main building at
91 Mill Street (on the south side of Lakeview), Collins probably built portions of the three brick
industrial buildings standing along the north side of Lakeview by 1889, as indicated on a detail
map of Collinsville from that date.” Industrial buildings in the historic Beaver Brook Mills
complex are illustrated as follows:

% Walker & Co., Atlas of Middlesex County, 1889.
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Beaver Brook Mills at 1951 Lakeview Ave.

Tenant Housing

The surviving tenant dwellings associated with the Beaver Brook Mills are designed on a number
of patterns and are distributed in three groups 1) a row of five buildings situated between the east
bank of the Beaver Brook and Primrose Hill Road; 2) a relatively diverse group of 27 buildings
located to the southwest from the mill complex toward Mammoth Road; and 3) a group of twelve
buildings situated to the northwest of the mill building complex, one block north of Lakeview
Avenue.
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20 Primrose Hill Rd., c. 1840. 16 Primrose Hill Rd., c. 1900.

The simple five-bay form of the houses at 16 and 20 Primrose Hill Road (first and second from the
south end in the row of five) indicates these are the earliest of the dwellings, although they do not
appear on the Sanborn Map of 1889. Apparently they were moved here after that date and used
for millworker housing. Embodying a simple two-story, side-gable form with a brick center
chimney, the house at 20 Primrose Hill could date as early as 1840. While the house at 16
Primrose Hill Road, which is next door to number 20, is similar in form to its neighbor (albeit now
lacking a brick chimney). Its pediment on the gable end shows a Classical Revival detail that
distinguishes it from its neighbor and suggests a slightly later construction date. Both may have
originally housed multiple small dwelling units, but today both are single family houses.

Michael Collins evidently built the two northernmost tenant buildings in the row on Primrose Hill
Road, at numbers 34 and 44, c. 1885, during the early years of his ownership, as these houses do
appear on the 1889 map. They are shed-roofed multi-unit houses—both probably originally
containing four dwellings. The building at #44 Primrose Hill has this arrangement today, but #34
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has been converted to house only three dwellings. A two-family house at #24 Primrose Hill (not
pictured) is also depicted on the 1889 map, and has been significantly altered, suggesting it may
have been constructed for a different purpose and only later converted to residential use.

The largest concentration of tenant dwellings associated with the Beaver Brook Mills are grouped
along Mill and Water streets between the major 1886 mill building and Mammoth Road. One
large multiple dwelling, seventeen double houses, and nine single dwellings comprise this historic
tenant house group. The 1889 Walker atlas map and the varying design and construction indicate
that this housing complex was constructed in at least three stages. The portion depicted on the
1889 map, and thus the segment built by that date, is limited to five story-and-a-half, side gable
double houses located at 34, 44, 47, 51, and 52 Mill Street. They have stone foundations and two
symmetrically placed interior brick chimneys. None of the buildings appear on the 1875 Beers
atlas map, hence it appears that Collins probably built these houses lining either side of Mill
Street, the closest in the former tenant complex to the mill, during the 1880s, in the early period of
his ownership. Indeed, the 1900 Federal Census taken in Dracut lists 43 heads of households
living on Mill Street and working in the woolen mill; a few of these were widows. Most of the
heads of household were born in Ireland, England, or Scotland. Nearly all had large families,
extended in some cases, and many had boarders besides.

51 Mill St., c. 1886.

Several extant two-family houses are grouped on the south side of the mill complex date to c.
1886. They follow a traditional form with gable roofs, interior brick chimneys, and symmetrical
front facades with two entrances at center.

% There are no census data available for 1890. Other heads of households were born in Massachusetts or New York,
but had parents who were born in Ireland. A few Germans were in the mix as well as one Russian. The 1889
Sanborn Map detail depicts one 4-unit dwelling on Mill Street that has since been torn down.
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Detail from 1889 Map of Dracut.
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33 Mill St., c. 1890.

South of the two-family dwellings is the barrack-like multi-family dwelling at 33 Mill Street, a
large side gable, two- story building about 160 feet in length, with a stone foundation and six
entrances on the front (north) side. Judging from its proximity to the earlier buildings and to the
mill itself, it is likely that this was the next phase of worker housing, constructed c. 1890.

To— i 3 R

Millworker tenant housing that follows the 1Y%-story form along Mill Street, Iokig east from
Mammoth Rd., all c. 1890.

The next phase of construction of Collinsville millworker housing apparently was comprised of
the nine story-and-a-half, front gable single-family dwellings located on the south side of Mill
Street at its Mammoth Road end and on the east side of Cottage Street. These houses, which date
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to c. 1890, followed the one-and-one-half-story front-gable form that had become very popular in
Dracut in the late 19™ century as a design for a modest suburban dwelling.

s

16 Spare St. ' 11 Water St,

Collins’s last addition to his rental housing complex, evidently undertaken in the early 20"
century, consisted of a total of twenty-four gambrel-roofed, one-story double houses. The
buildings were sited in two regularly gridded sets of twelve each. One set was located in the
greater Mill Street complex and comprised four rows on Water, Middle (both sides), and Mill
streets, each row made up of three double-houses. The other dozen occupied a long, narrow block
north of Lakeview Avenue between Spare and Alder streets. These buildings all have brick
foundations, interior brick chimneys symmetrically positioned and, on the front of each tenant
apartment, broad gabled dormers and flat hoods over the entrance doors. On some of these
houses, the door hoods still retain trim work beneath the hood consisting of a pair of curving
scroll-sawn boards ornamented with a scroll at the front end. The brick foundation construction
represented a somewhat unusual departure from prevailing house-building practice in Dracut,
where stone was only gradually giving way to foundations of concrete block. With his ongoing
program of improvements to the mill buildings, Collins might have realized economies of scale in
employing brick. It is not known whether Michael Collins (owner to 1899) or the American
Woolen Company built this last set of tenant houses, although the available evidence favors the
American Woolen Company, with 1906 as a possible date.”’

%" It should be noted that the Assessor’s dates for these former tenant buildings (in particular) do not appear to be
trustworthy, given that most of the buildings are attributed to 1886 despite not being depicted on the 1889 map. The
significance of the date 1886, i.e., the reason why it is attributed by the Assessor as the construction date for so
many of these houses, is due to documentation of Collins having built the principal mill building in that year.
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Civic Buildings

Quite a number of Dracut’s community buildings serving governmental, educational, and religious
needs date to the end of the 19" century. This is because it was a boom period when jobs were
generally plentiful and the population was growing.

i

Orlginakl School Build'ing a 30 Alngtryi' St., 1883ka¢ut Cénter) that became the Town Hall ad
Library in 1898.

The former Dracut Center school building, located at 60 Arlington Street, was constructed in
1883. As seen in a photograph from before 1898, it was an elaborate Stick Style building when it
started life, a one-and-a-half-story hip-roof structure. In 1898, the town built a new Dracut Center
School on Spring Park Avenue and converted this building, with some remodeling, to serve as
town hall and library. It has been drastically altered over its life, but still retains original wall
dormers situated toward the rear of the building. The building attained its present form and
Colonial Revival style in further renovations carried out in 1939 under the Works Progress
Administration.
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11 Sring Park Ave., 1898 (Dracut Center).

As the suburbanization trend from 1880 onward impelled population growth in the town, Dracut
responded in the 1890s with an ambitious program of improved school construction, building a
series of large two-story or two-and-a-half-story school buildings in the more densely populated
neighborhoods. One of the most impressive for its architecture was the new Dracut Center School
at 11 Spring Park Avenue, built in 1898 to replace the earlier (1883) Dracut Center school
building which then became the Town Hall and public library. The new school was a two-story
hip-roofed building incorporating a front gable central entrance pavilion with recessed doorways
at both corners. The distinctive Classical Revival style of the building featured the pavilion’s
bull’s-eye gable window and the corner entrance porches with their Doric order entablatures,
pilasters and corner pillars. The foundation is of large cut granite and the cladding is wood
shingle. The building is remarkably intact (on the inside as well as the exterior) as exemplified by
its original 6-over-2 window sash. The Dracut Center School, which currently serves as the Town
Hall Annex, is both historically and architecturally significant.
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Kenwood School at 920 Methuen St., 1900.

Another noteworthy surviving member in the turn-of-the-century school improvement program is
the Kenwood School at 920 Methuen Street, built in 1900 and now the Kenwood Professional
Building. This Classical Revival-style building was fairly similar in general form to the Dracut
Center School, being a two-story hip-roofed structure with a cross-gabled central entrance
pavilion. The entrance treatment was quite different, however, presenting a single doorway
framed within a classical frontispiece incorporating a rounded archway. The relatively small shed-
roof portion of the building at the southeast corner is original and contained the main stairway,
while the structure now composing the southwest corner is a relatively small addition.
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Churches
Both Roman Catholic and Protestant denominations constructed substantial church buildings in
Dracut after 1890, a trend enabled by the surge in population.

205 Lakeview Ave., 1898 (Collinsville).

The Collinsville Union Mission Church (now the Collinsville Bible Church) at 2075 Lakeview
Avenue, built 1898, currently exhibits the Colonial Revival style, although there are clues that its
original architectural expression was Gothic Revival (the Tudor-arched bell tower openings). The
church is a one-and-a-half-story side-gable building with a two-and-a-half-story square bell tower
with pyramidal-roof. It has undergone considerable enlargement—two large one-story wings were
added, one built in 1936, the other in 1953. The church has been resided, windows altered and
faux window blinds installed.
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F. Early Modern Period (1900 — 1945)

Residential Development

At the turn of the 20™ century, new forms and styles began to emerge and examples of them are
among Dracut’s historic resources. Two of these forms were the American Four Square and the
Bungalow. The American Four Square was particularly adaptable to a range of stylistic
treatments—from the ever-popular Colonial Revival to Craftsman and Classical Revival. It was
so named for its cubic shape—always two stories—topped by a hipped roof. It can have either
two- or three-bay front and sides, so long as they are equal. The plan was commodious making
good use of attic space when fitted out with dormers, which was typical, as well as economical
due to its square footprint. A full front porch is the primary architectural feature found on most
American Four Squares. However, the house could be endlessly dressed up and expanded with
bay and oriel windows, side sun porches, dormers on all sides of the roof, etc.?®

B
E

1432 Bridge St., c. 1905 “’ " 1440 Bridge St., c. 1905

The two nearly identical houses at 1432 and 1440 Bridge Street in Dracut Center are good
examples of the American Four Square form with minor differences in architectural expressions.
Both exhibit the classic cubic form with hipped roof and front hipped dormer with three small
windows. Note how the lower edge of the second floor flares out slightly over the first floor in
both houses. Also, both have 2-bay front and side facades, full front porches, and stone
foundations. The house at 1432 Bridge Street has tall paired windows on the second floor front
facade and scroll sawn braces along the porch cornice—design elements associated with the
Gothic Revival style. The house at 1440 Bridge Street has retained some of its original 2-over-2
window sash, has a bay window on its left (south) facade, and its foundation is of higher quality
cut granite. However its porch has been rebuilt and screened in, undoubtedly resulting in the loss
of original architectural ornamentation.

%8 Architectural historian James Allen Scott has coined the term “Ornamented Cubes” for elaborately designed Four
Square houses.
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106 Arlington Ave., built ¢. 1910 (Dracut Center)

The American Four Square at 106 Arlington Avenue illustrates how this rather simple house form
can gain architectural distinction with the application of a definitive style—in this case Classical
Revival—added amenities and alternative materials. The stucco cladding is an economical
solution to an otherwise high-end approach. While the house has three bays on the front and side,
it lacks the typical front porch. Instead, a box oriel projects over the front door, which is flanked
by hefty pilasters. Architectural detailing includes banding at the bottom of the second floor
windows encircling the house and large brackets to support the wide overhanging eaves of the
classic hipped roof that has a hipped-roof front dormer. Three-part picture windows are rare at
this early date (they become extremely popular in the 1950s). The flat-roofed box bay on the right
facade provides additional floor space on the interior and architectural interest on the exterior.

Bungalows

The Bungalow house was a major new form that became extremely popular on a national basis in
the first three decades of the 20" century. It was a response to a social movement to improve
housing, the growth in automobile ownership and consequent suburban growth. While Bungalows
could be designed with various architectural styles (such as Colonial Revival), the Craftsman style
was by far the most prevalent. The Craftsman style developed out of the Arts and Crafts
movement that began in England in the late 19" century as a reaction to the Industrial Age with its
uniform, mass produced objects. Thus Craftsman houses often took the English Cottage as its
inspiration and embodied the ideal of “honest” and simple materials lovingly handcrafted. Classic
features of the Bungalow are a steep gable roof that extends out over a front porch, often with a
dormer above, providing the one-story dwelling with a usable upper floor for bedrooms.

However, the snug houses could also use a front gable design. Frequently Bungalows were
complemented by an “auto barn” that closely matched the architectural details of the dwelling.
Dracut has a fine selection of Bungalows worthy of preservation and documentation.
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1520 Bridge St., 1903 (Dracut Center)

The Bungalow at 1520 Bridge Street illustrates the careful detailing that the Craftsman style is
noted for—in this case diamond-panes used in the dormer and for window sidelights. The
exposed brick side wall chimney and faceted bay window are amenities found in the more
expensive renditions of the style. This dwelling also features a cobblestone foundation that was
also a hallmark of the Craftsman style. The photographs below show the variety of architectural
expression that was achieved in Dracut’s Bungalow resources.

174 Greenmont Ave., ¢. 1910 (Dracut Center)
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57 Allen St., ¢. 1920 (Kenwood) 384 Textile Ave., 1928 (Navy Yard)
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26 Champlain St., 1924 (Dra
Residential development slowed to a virtual halt during the Depression Era. Yet through the

Works Progress Administration, which was initiated as a part of President Franklin D. Roosevelt’s
“New Deal,” several major construction projects were undertaken in Dracut.
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Resort Development

Most of the resort development along Mascuppic Lake and Long Pond that occurred in the 1920s
and 30s has been either significantly altered or replaced all together. However, a few of the
original cabins can still be found. No architectural style is attributed to these dwellings, as they
were nearly always simple rectangular or square buildings with a minimum of architectural
ornamentation. However, screened porches were typically incorporated in their design.
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Farm Buildings

The development of the large-scale ground-level stable barn in the early 20™ century continued
into the mid- and even late-1900s. One 20" century farming operation that has evolved to meet
the challenges presented by changing markets, loss of land to suburbanization, and not the least,
lack of agricultural service infrastructure is Shaw Farm. Located at 204 New Boston Road, it has
developed a farm-to-market business that creates a wide variety of dairy products for sale in both
wholesale and retail outlets. The oldest section of the present dairy barn is located at its north end
and was constructed c. 1937 (based on photo of that date). The major addition to the south was
built in 2002. The original dairy barn is a side-gable building with a lean-to extending along the
west side.  The metal silo standing by the northwest corner of the barn was erected at some date
during 1938-1957, judging from historic photos. Two houses on the farm property were
constructed c. 1908 and c. 1916.

Aerial Vi Shaw Farm at 4 Ne Boston Rd.

Another good example of the continued upgrading of agricultural buildings is the barn on the
farmstead at 437 Parker Road, built c. 1945, complete with attached gambrel-roofed milk house.

- e

Two view of he barn at 437 Parker Rd., built c. 1945 (East Dracut)
Community Buildings
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The Dracut Grange at 1367 Bridge St., 1903 (Dracut Center)

Although manufacturing was strong and suburban residential development on the increase, the
farming community still exerted a powerful role in social and economic life in 1903 when the
Dracut Grange constructed its fine hall at 1367 Bridge Street just north of the historic Dracut
Meetinghouse. The Classical Revival style of the two-story hip-roofed Grange Hall, expressed in
features such as the pedimented gable of the frontal pavilion, the molded block cornice, and the
corner pilasters, echoes the rich decoration applied in the renovation of the neighboring “Yellow
Meetinghouse” just a few years before, in 1897.
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Moses Greeley Prker Library at 30 Arlington St., 1922 (Dracut Center)

Dracut’s citizens obtained another handsome edifice to adorn community life when the town built
the Moses Greeley Parker Library, located at 30 Arlington Street, in 1922. The original library
building is designed in the Colonial Revival style with a symmetrically organized front facade. It
is one story in height with a gambrel roof of multi-colored slate shingles. Of masonry
construction, the building is laid up in expensive Flemish bond brick work. A front portico
shelters the center entrance and features four Doric columns, a pediment with modillions, and
“MEMORIAL LIBRARY” carved into its frieze. Brick pilasters flank the original front door,
which has a Roman-arched fanlight transom and multi-paned sidelights. Tall compass windows
with tracery, framed by paired engaged lonic columns highlight both side facades. The date,
“1922” appears above these windows. The original section is much smaller than the modern
library building that has resulted from a sequence of enlargements in 1939, 1979, and 2005, but
the town and the various architects have always maintained the elegant prominence of the original
building, keeping it at the front of the overall building and out of the shadow, so to speak, of the
additions.
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The Dracut Town Hall at 60 Arlington Street, as it stands today, is a one-and one-half-story front-
gabled structure with one-story wings. Despite its drastic alteration in 1939 from the original
schoolhouse it took over (see page 11-66), the present building is historically significant for having
served the public for over seven decades.

Schools

F A S o

O Broadway Rd., 1908 (East Dracut
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While the town created a series of improved school buildings in the more densely settled areas of
town in the late 19™ century, it also constructed new buildings to serve its rural school districts. A
number of these buildings also survive, although none continue to function as schools. One of
these, now serving as a house, is the District 10 School, the second building for that easterly
district, constructed in 1908 and located at 730 Broadway Road. Initially it was a one-story front-
gable building, but recent renovations removed the old stone front steps and blocked up the
original entrance, and installed a new front door on its Jones Avenue facade. Still the building
retains some of its Classical Revival features, such as the corner boards and broken-bed pediment.
Though architecturally compromised, the building is historically significant as a rare remnant of
the era of one-room schoolhouses.

Parkéf’ Avenue Schdol at 93 iDarker' Avéhue, built 1924 (Navy Yérd)
Although the years around the turn of the century had seen a greater expenditure of energy in this
regard, Dracut continued after World War | to enlarge its assemblage of schools. The town

constructed two brick Classical Revival-style schools during the 1920s, the Parker Avenue School
in 1924 and the Greenmont Avenue School in 1929.

The 2¥%-story Parker Avenue School has a straightforward Classical Revival style laid up in
common bond brickwork and having limestone trim. A central entrance pavilion has door
surround of brick pilasters supporting a large limestone entablature engraved with the name of the
school. Marble steps and stoop lead to the double entrance doors. Soldier course brickwork
surround and define the window openings. A limestone watertable defines the raised basement,
while limestone keystones, window corner blocks and sills, and cornice provide subdued
ornamentation. The pavilion is flanked by bays that have lost some of their definition due to the
replacement windows installed. Nevertheless, it has retained its overall historic character and
serves as a landmark for the Parker Avenue-School Street neighborhood.
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The larger and more distinctive of this pair is the Greenmont Avenue School, located at the corner
of Spring Park Avenue. A two-story hip-roof building constructed on a raised concrete basement,
the Greenmont School served as the first Dracut High School from 1933 through 1958. The front
(west) facade has end pavilions flanking nine bays and a center entrance. The pavilions have
blank walls embellished with panels of decorative brickwork. The building has a rear addition
built in the 1930s and a south wing added c. 1990 which is connected to the main building via a
narrow hyphen structure.

The Greenmont Avenue School, located at 37 Greenmont Ave., 1929 (Dracut Center)
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Churches

1868 Lakeview Ave., built 1883/1900 (Collinsville)

Dracut’s most architecturally notable Roman Catholic church building is the Craftsman-style St.
Mary of the Assumption Church located at 1868 Lakeview Avenue. This highly picturesque one-
and-a-half-story, gambrel-roofed building is the result of remodeling and enlargement after a fire
severely damaged the original church that was built in 1883.%° It derives support on either side
from sloping buttresses that are shingled, providing a clue to its original Shingle Style. It has
gabled entrance porches on the front (north) and on the east side, a triple window on the front
sheltered by eyebrow and steeply sloping shed dormers located toward the front on either side of
the building. An associated two-story, hipped-roof rectory is located immediately east of the
church. The building now houses the Church of Pentecost Lowell-Dracut Assembly congregation.

% MHC Inventory Form no. DRA.51, documented in 1990 by Donat Paquet.
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250 Tyngsboro Rd., 1931 (Collnsville)

St. Mary Magdalen R. C. Church was constructed at 250 Tyngsboro Road in 1931 to serve the
growing number of vacationers and permanent residents who had been acquiring properties in the
vicinity of the two lakes on the northwest edge of Dracut. It is a restrained rendition of the Late
Gothic Revival style, with a steeply sloping gable roof, a spire over the transept, a rose window on
the north end over a gabled entrance porch, and a Tudor-arched window with tracery on the east
transept wall. It is clad in stucco. The church was not in use as of late 2011.

Commercial Properties

Dracut’s historic commercial buildings almost all date to the twentieth century. Even more than is
the case with dwellings, there is a tendency for the owners of commercial buildings to physically
enlarge and otherwise extensively alter these properties in response to changing needs and the
evolving styles in popular architecture. After all, it helps in attracting potential customers if you
can catch their eye with visible changes, and also imparts a feeling that your business is vital and
up-to-date. Because of this greater tendency to transforming architectural alterations, commercial
properties are less likely than homes, farmsteads, churches or schools to qualify as eligible historic
resources.

Dracut does, however, have commercial buildings that contribute in telling the town’s story, such
as the mid-nineteenth-century store building at 145 Pleasant Street. In the case of the 20™ century
examples, all of the properties bear some relation to the prevalent role of the automobile in
American life that developed from c. 1910 onward, including repair garages, service stations,
automobile dealerships, strip restaurants, fast food stands (“drive-ins”), and suburban shopping
plazas.
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Gunther’s Garage at 1404 Lakeview Ave., 1923.

Gunther’s Garage at 1404 Lakeview Avenue, built in 1923, is a relatively early example of a
commercial garage that may have functioned mainly as an auto repair business. The original
section of the building, constructed of rock-face concrete block, contains the two garage bays to
the right (northwest). One of the bays is much taller than the other, no doubt to permit the raising
of a vehicle on a lift. Tall multi-pane windows on that side of the building provide natural light
for the workspace. The original section has a shed roof of gently sloping pitch, with a stepped
parapet at the front. A single garage bay was added to the left (southeast) of the two original bays
and is constructed or smooth concrete block. One or more gas pumps perhaps formed a
component in the complex as first built, but if so they have been removed.
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Garage at 12 Delmar Rd., ¢. 1930

There are only a small number of intact commercial properties from this period, due to the
extensive renovations that many of the surviving buildings of this kind have undergone. The
garage building now used by Don’s Construction & Repair, standing at 12 Delmar Road and built
c. 1930, is situated within a streetcar era subdivision developed c. 1915. Accompanied by a small
frame house of similar vintage, the garage occupies the inner angle of the “Y” junction formed by
Delmar and Navy Yard roads, a strategic location to draw business from local residents when it
was first constructed. The business probably concentrated on auto repair. The garage, built of
smooth concrete block, has a gently pitched gable roof masked by a stepped parapet wall. It
contains three garage bays, the one to the right or east taller to provide for operation of a lift.
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1543 Bridge St., ¢. 1940 (Dracut Center)

At 1543 Bridge Street stands a former auto dealership showroom built c. 1940, now occupied by
Roussel Marine. The original section of the building, to the left or north, is a side-gable structure
built of concrete block with a facade presenting three bays arranged with a garage bay entry
flanked by large display windows. Early auto-oriented building very often were designed to blend
in with their residential surroundings, and like this one were small in scale and replicated the
building forms of that time—the gable-roof Colonial Revival complete with cupola was standard.
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474 Nashua Rd., c. 1940 (Collinsville)

Mike’s Ice Cream Stand occupies a property at 474 Nashua Road that has been a drive-in ice
cream and fast food restaurant since it was built c. 1940. The one-story side-gable building has a
hipped-roof porch extending on three sides. Portions of the porch are enclosed; on the right side
to provide space for a gift shop, on the left for service and storage. The form of the building
(recalling Southern and Caribbean plantation houses) indicates that originally the entire porch area
provided sheltered exterior floor space for food customers, with car parking immediately around
the porch on all three sides.
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G. Post World War 11 Suburbanization (1945-1965)

Two types of suburban dwelling dominated the landscape of Dracut’s 1945-1965 subdivisions, the
Cape Cod house, typically one story in height, and the one-story Ranch. The ever-popular Cape
was almost the exclusive choice for subdivision houses during the late 1940s. One of the reasons
for this was the Federal Housing Administrations’ loan requirements and promotional materials,
which favored traditional designs, particularly the Cape Cod.®® The subdivision established
northeast of Lakeview Avenue in Collinsville by Robert C. Mills during 1947-1950 was built up
completely by 1950 and consisted entirely of Capes such as the one at 63 Frances Street. Ernest
Bouchard’s developments at Bouchard Avenue and Oak Terrace were made up of from 80 to 90
percent of this style.

View looking northwest up Bouchard Ave.

% Barbara M. Kelly, Expanding the American Dream — Building and Rebuilding Levittown (Albany, NY: State
University of New York Press, 1993), p. 18.
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63 Frances St., 1950 (Collinsville).

The 3-bay front facade of this Cape shows the influence of Modernism with its asymmetrical front
facade—a multi-paned bow window on one side of the front entrance and a single 1-over-1 double hung
sash on the other. The recessed porch with gable roof projecting over a small porch provides shelter for the
service/kitchen entrance. In this example there is a detached front gabled garage sited to the rear of the
dwelling.

90 Oak Ter., 1955 (Collinsville). 20 Camilla Ave., 1961 (Collinsville).
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134 Varnum Ave., 1955 (East Dracut) 22 Percy St., 1951 (Kenood)

The Cape Cod-style house at 22 Percy Street illustrates how garages were often added to these
modest “starter homes.” The breezeway/hyphen between garage and house was an innovation that
became popular nationwide, while it recalls the locally prevalent connected building form.
Another common way cars were housed in the 1950s was with a simple carport on the side of the
house with the service entrance. These amenities were often enclosed and adapted for additional
living space.
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22 Leonard Ave., 1955 (Colinsville).

A subtype of Cape that enjoyed limited popularity in Dracut during the mid-1950s featured a
shallow projecting front bay with its gable roof about one foot taller than that of the main section.
In some instances, as in the example above, the eave line of the projecting portion was extended
past the front entrance to provide a small porch. A concentration of this type of Cape was built in
Leon Litchfield’s Rainbow Acres subdivision, while a relative handful of other examples were
scattered elsewhere about town. One such Rainbow Acres house is 22 Leonard Avenue, built in
1955.
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57 Clark Ave., 1948 (Navy Yard) "~ 760ld Meadow Rd., 1946 (Navy Yard)

During the early post-war years, a few homeowners, generally outside the new subdivisions, chose
to build Capes encased in stone or brick masonry. Examples include 76 Old Meadow Road,
constructed in 1946, and 57 Clark Avenue, built 1948.

Examples of the one story Ranch house, which Dracut developers began to build immediately
after World War 11, are about as common as Capes for the period from that date to 1965 (and even
later). The Ranch style became ubiquitous and most often reflected the conservative tastes of
home buyers. Many of these houses have features associated with the Colonial Revival style
applied—window blinds or shutters and multi-paned windows. The roof was usually a low-
pitched gable. Less often Ranches presented a more streamlined Modern look, employing low-
pitched hipped roofs or even distinctive flat roofs. Almost invariably the garage is attached, either
ina V\gilng, via a breezeway, or on the basement level in a tuck-under manner, if one was provided
at all.

5 Barry Ave., 1960, (Collinsville).

81 Where no attached garage is present, the property was developed as an affordable “starter” home to which a garage
might later be added, either detached or attached; plans usually provided for such an expansion.
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The Ranch house located at 5 Barry Avenue is typical of the form and incorporates the usual
features of a Ranch—in particular the 3-part picture window (large pane of glass flanked by 1-
over-1 double hung sash). The gable roof has a low pitch and the front facade is asymmetrically
organized. The window wall with two 6-light windows that creates a solarium/porch fronting the
garage wing is not a feature common to the type, which suggests it was a later addition. The
corner lot provides for the attached garage to be accessed off Orchard Street.

D,

61 Belair Ave., 1963 (Navy Yard).

The 1963 Ranch house at 61 Belair Avenue has similar features but with a tuck-under garage on
its left (southeast) facade. Most notably is that it retains its original front door with three small
stepped down vertical windows. In addition, the wrought iron and supports for an aluminum
awning sheltering the front stoop and decorative wrought iron stair railing were favored during
this time period.

7ZChr|sty Ave., 1959 (Dracut Center). | 21 Kathy Ave., 1964 (Collinsville).

Two typical subdivision Ranch houses are located at 72 Christy Avenue, built 1959, in Crosby
Heights, and at 21 Kathy Avenue, built 1964, in Phaneuf Estates. Both subdivisions were
developed by Psoinos and Katsikas, the former from 1955 to 1956, the latter from 1964 to 1965.
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The 72 Christy Avenue house has a gable feature above its three-part picture window making it a
focal point on the building’s fagade. It also has paired windows to the right of the front entrance
plus a single window to its right, all with window blinds. One can tell from the fenestration
patterns of each that they share the same floor plan even though the architectural details and
amenities are slightly different.®* The large exposed endwall chimney on the left end of 21 Kathy
Avenue, together with the bay window (rather than the 3-part picture window of 72 Christy
Avenue) on the front facade, reveals the location of the living room.
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8 Thissell Ave., 1955 (Dracut Center).

An impressive handful of shed-roofed Modern style Ranch houses is located along and just off
Thissell Avenue. They include houses at 62, 68, 80 and 88 Thissell Avenue and 7 Rockwell
Street, built from 1945 through 1957. All the houses along Thissell Avenue take advantage of the
rise of that street, with tuck-under garages on their left, downhill, sides. Their 4-bay front facades
are asymmetrically organized with two 4-light horizontal bedroom windows to the left of the
entrance door, with large 9-light picture windows in a shallow pavilion to the right of the entrance.
On the left side walls, two horizontal 2-light windows further define the bedroom wings,
emphasizing the horizontality of the form that is a characteristic of Modern Ranch houses. At
least one of these houses has retained its original front doors with three square windows aligned
vertically. The house at 7 Rockwell Street is a good deal larger than the Thissell Avenue
dwellings, but it shares their overall form and shed roof with widely overhanging eaves, gently
sloping downward toward the rear, as well as the same large, nine-pane picture window on the
front. The relatively expansive house on Rockwell provides garage space via a recessed side wing
to the right of the bedrooms.

V_“p"""

82 Some of the features appear to be later modifications—possibly the bay window replaced an original window and
the gable feature above the picture window on 72 Stephen Avenue looks to be a fairly recent addition judging from
the Bing Map aerial photo currently posted online.
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7 Rockwell St., built 1957 (Dracut Center).

Rear view of 87 Bancroft St., built 1955 (Navy Yard).

Others among Dracut’s limited group of noteworthy Modern style houses are also adaptations of
the Ranch type with distinctive exterior elements or details. One of these, 87 Bancroft Street, built
in 1955, is situated within Leon Litchfield’s Alan Park subdivision (developed 1953-1954),
surrounded by more ordinary Capes and Ranches. It is an adaptation of the Ranch form in which
the overall building has a T-shape footprint, with a gable-roofed front projecting garage wing.

The house is built against a hillside, which provides for a walk-out basement opening onto a
terraced back yard. This house, clad in stained wooden siding, has several picture windows of
full-story height, including a grand six-part window that extends almost fully across the left gable
end. A large brick chimney rises from the center, at the junction of the pavilion with the main
block.
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187 Primrose Hill Rd., built 1955 (Collinsville).

The house at 187 Primrose Hill Road, constructed on an individual parcel in 1955, is a modified
Ranch form noteworthy for its Modernist style. Sited atop a knoll site, it has an asymmetrical
footprint which follows the Modern axiom, Form Follows Function. It also embodies a strong
horizontality revealing the influence of Frank Lloyd Wright’s Prairie Style. A picture window
exemplifies this with its six horizontal panes, as does the other horizontal 4-light windows, and a
low pitched roof (combining hipped roof and gable roof segments) with wide overhanging eaves.
Natural materials of stained wood shingles and rough stone meld the composition to its environs
while large areas of glass provide uninterrupted views from the inside out to its surroundings. A
tuck-under double garage takes advantage of the hilly site, another characteristic of Modern
architecture. Naturalistic landscaping completes the picture of a thoroughly Modern taste that
epitomizes the new approach to residential architecture in the mid-20" century.

Two other suburban house forms began to appear in Dracut in the post-World War Il period—the
Split Level and the Raised Ranch. The Split Level was the earlier of the two, appearing on the
national scene as early as 1939 in Sears Kit House catalogs, but it gained its greatest popularity in
the 1960s. With its staggered floor levels, it was well-suited to hilly home sites and shared many
of the stylistic characteristics applied to Ranches (an asymmetrically organized front facade and
wide overhanging eaves are two of these). However, the form never really caught on in Dracut—
perhaps because it was more expensive to construct than the Raised Ranch. The town’s relative
handful of examples are scattered through town, with those built on individually purchased lots
probably outnumbering those built in subdivisions.
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860 Hildreth St., built 1965 (Navy Yard).

The Split Level house at 860 Hildreth Street, built in 1965, is a classic example of the form which
is articulated with a gable roof over the first floor section that ties into a front gabled story-and-a
half section. The three-part picture window to the left of the entrance (in the side-gabled one-story
section) is a feature of many post WW |1 dwellings; together with the exposed endwall chimney it
denotes the location of the living room. The front entry is located in the single-level section at the
center of the facade. The upper story of the front-gabled section is cantilevered, projecting
forward of the one-story and basement facades. The decorative features—window blinds, 6-over-
6 windows, multi-paned picture window, and front door with sidelights—add a Colonial Revival
pastiche to the house.

The second form was the Raised Ranch, which was a highly cost-effective design that became
predominant in the mid-1960s and which would prove to dominate suburban development
throughout the country to date. The Raised Ranch is an adaptation of the Ranch form raised a half
story, with its entrance located midway between the basement and the first floor levels—the
defining characteristic of the form. It almost always has a low pitched side gable roof and often
features a tuck-under garage.

e

141 Forest Park Rd., built 1965 (Collinsville).
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The house at 141 Forest Park Road, built in 1965 in the Psoinos-Katsikas Forest Park development
created during 1960-1961, is typical with its widely cantilevered upper story, and recessed
entrance. A bow window to the right of the entrance reveals the location of the living room,
smaller windows to the left of the front door indicates the location of two bedrooms. Like
innumerable other houses built in the 20" century, decorative features mimic a Colonial Revival
style with windows blinds, multi-paned windows, and sidelights in the front door surround.

Schools

By the late 1950s it became necessary for Dracut to greatly enlarge the physical plant of its school
establishment in response to the rapidly increasing suburban population. The town acquired the
old Oliver Colburn Farmstead tract located on the southwest side of Lakeview Avenue (the Town
of Dracut would take over the farmhouse and lease it to the Dracut Historical Society for its use).
In 1958, the first section of the Dracut Hi